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“The people were amazingly kind and 
treated Geraint with compassion, with 
love and respect. I will always come back.”
Alessandra Pasain

Year at a Glance

Care and Support for Communities 
All our care is provided free of charge. Demand for our specialist services has continued to 
increase. By working together, our highly trained teams have ensured that patients, their families 
and carers get the right care by the right person at the right time: 

We would not be able to deliver our services without the help of our amazing volunteers. More than 690 
volunteers provide support at the Hospice and in the community and just over 540 help in 44 shops. Their time 
and energy are essential and add enormous value to our services.

For more information about us visit: www.pah.org.uk

Hospice at Home
Our specialist teams made over 

15,200 home visits – helping to  
care for some 2,200 patients  

in their homes

In-Patient Care
We cared for 464 complex  

patients in our wards

Therapies
We have provided nearly 6,700 therapy 

sessions to patients – including  
some 4,100 occupational and  

physiotherapy sessions

Patient and  
Family Support
Our social work, chaplaincy  

and bereavement care teams 
provided over 8,900  

support sessions

Medical Team
Our team of 7 consultants  

has helped patients aged from  
19 to 106 with a wide  

range of conditions 

Day Services
There were over 3,000 attendances 

across the five days of different 
activities provided by Day  
Services, supporting more  

than 160 individuals
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Delivering Care and Support 
It costs over £9.5 million each year to provide our free, high quality care. We are investing in 
developing services to reach out to even more people in need. As a charity 74% of our income 
is generated by fundraising, retail operations, donations and legacies and it is only the ongoing, 
generous support of the local community that makes it possible to do our work. 
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How we raised income How we spent the money

84p is spent on delivering our care and support

11p is spent on fundraising to 
secure further donations

5p is spent on management  
and administration

For every £1 donated
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The anniversary was  an important 
milestone and opportunity to honour 
our founders who believed in the 
importance of high quality palliative 
care. Their vision and commitment 
was the catalyst for founding our 
Hospice. Their values have shaped 
what Princess Alice is today - part 
of, supported by and working for 
its community.  We are delighted to 
share our highlights from 2016-17.   

We achieved significant successes in 
palliative and end of life care, none 
of which would have been possible 
without excellent staff, volunteers, 
friends and support from the 
community. These include:

• The Care Quality Commission 
(CQC), rated us outstanding 
for quality of care. We are the 
only hospice in the UK to achieve 

outstanding for all five key 
measures: safe, effective, caring, 
responsive and well-led

• We have reached more people 
than ever by delivering care at 
home for some 2,200 people and 
supporting over 460 patients with 
complex needs in our wards

• Man Shed was officially opened 
in the grounds by TV sports 
presenter, John Inverdale. This has 
rapidly become an asset, benefiting 
patients, carers and bereaved 
carers with its practical non-
intrusive form of  “shoulder to 
shoulder” support. 

Volunteers and bereavement support 
received prestigious awards, raising 
our profile nationally. The Queen’s 
Award was given to our Bereavement 
Service volunteers. This is the highest 

award given to local volunteer groups 
in the UK:

• The volunteering team was 
awarded the Hospice UK Award 
for its innovative volunteer 
programme for young people

• Bereavement support for 
children and young people was 
featured in the BBC Children in 
Need Appeal. 

We worked hard to spread our 
expertise in palliative and end of 
life care reaching out to the wider 
community:

• Holding a special anniversary 
conference “Celebrating 
Collaboration” at Sandown Park 
Racecourse. Over 80 delegates 
attended to explore hospice care – 
past, present and future

Chair and CEO’s  
Introduction
Princess Alice Hospice marked its 30th anniversary by continuing to provide outstanding care, by 
extending services to reach more people in need and by increasing community support. 

Year in review

Cutting the cake to celebrate the CQC ‘Outstanding’ Hospice rating
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• Taking the “Hospice on tour” to 
thank supporters in person using a 
mobile Princess Alice exhibition unit 
and a range of 30 year anniversary 
activities 

• The Community Choir was part 
of a 17 strong London Hospices 
Choir, which recorded a number 
one Christmas single - “The Living 
Years”  

• Opening new shops including a 
new department store in Hounslow 
with eye catching pink fascia and 
contemporary interior. 

We have launched a new five year 
strategy, which was the culmination 
of extensive consultation and detailed  

work by a team of senior managers 
and trustees. It aims to ensure our 
communities have the best care and 
support before, during and after 
death. 

We intend to do this by:  

• Reaching out to more people 
• Delivering outstanding care 
• Nurturing compassionate 

communities
• Sharing knowledge and 

expertise and 
• Influencing the debate around 

death and dying.  

This will only be possible with the 
support of the community, volunteers 

and partners in the NHS, local 
Authorities, universities and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.  More detail 
on the new strategy is on page 20.  

As ever, we would like to give 
heartfelt thanks for the generosity 
of donors and for the part played 
by all our supporters in helping the 
Hospice to deliver much needed 
services.   

Providing high quality health and 
social care is challenging in the 
current climate and we recognise the 
obstacles faced by many colleagues 
working within the wider health 
economy. However, despite this, we 
are committed to helping patients 
live well before dying and to working 
in partnership with the wider 
community to help make it happen.

Nicki Shaw 
Chief Executive

Fiona Ross 
Chair

We achieved significant 
success in palliative 
and end of life care 
over the past five years 
and have launched a 
new strategy to 2022 
which aims to ensure 
our communities have 
the best care and 
support before, during 
and after death.

Volunteers and staff launch our 30th Anniversary Tour

Fiona Ross (left) and Nicki Shaw



4

2012-2017: How did we do? 
In March 2012, we launched an ambitious five year plan to develop our Hospice and to enhance 
and expand care in the community. As we embark on the new five-year journey, it is important 
to look back and take stock of what we have accomplished. 

The Strategic Plan for 2012-17 
had three primary aims:  

1.	To	lead	on	new	models	
of	care	and	support	that	
respond	to	the	changing	
needs	of	patients,	families	
and	carers	-	helping	
patients	to	live	life	to	the	
full	and	when	the	time	
comes,	die	in	their	place		
of	choice. 

We recruited extra nurses and 
healthcare assistants to give more 
planned nursing care at home: 
growing our Night Nursing service 
to around 30 nights of care per 
month in 2016; developing our Rapid 
Response Service (which supports 
patients in a crisis) and adding an 
Enhanced Support Service (which 
allows patients to remain in their 
preferred setting thereby reducing 
unnecessary hospital admissions). 

We recruited specialty doctors 
and appointed lead consultants to 
improve patient continuity on the 
wards and in our communities. We 
introduced a discharge co-ordinator 
and clinical administrative staff to 
support the clinical leads enabling 
them to focus on patient care.  

We introduced smart phones and 
portable devices to support remote 
working. We refined our clinical data 
collection and recruited a Head of 
Quality and Patient Experience.

We produced new literature for 
patients, families and carers and 
we brought in Welfare Advisors 
to help these groups navigate the 
benefits system and understand 
the allowances they are entitled to. 
The development of a new Carers 
Strategy allows carers to access more 
support, knowledge and training. 

We expanded our Day Services 
programme. We now offer an 
extensive range of therapies which 

has led to a significant increase in the 
delivery of sessions. We have created 
a wide spectrum of peer support 
sessions including: discussion groups, 
the community choir, bereavement 
cafes, Walk and Talk and Hospice 
Neighbours. 

We secured a grant from BBC Children 
in Need to fund a dedicated social 
worker to help more children and 
teenagers cope with the illness and 
death of someone close to them. We 
now hold a mix of one-to-one and 
group sessions (Dovetail) for children 
and young people throughout the 
year including a Family Fun Day and 
the Family picnic. We opened our Man 
Shed for bereaved men and women.

Our Princess Alice Nurses joined the 
Coordinated, Safe and Integrated 
(COSI) partnership – alongside Marie 
Curie, Virgin Care, Ashford and St 
Peter’s Hospitals and Woking & Sam 
Beare Hospice – to improve care for 
people who are reaching the end 
of their lives in North West Surrey. 
This collaborative approach won the 
National Council for Palliative Care’s 
‘End of Life Care Champion of the 
Year’ award.

Strategic report

Ward Support Volunteers with their certificates

Local children help launch Hospice Care Week
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The reception and cafe area was 
re-developed to create a welcoming 
space for visitors. We also recruited 
a dietician, who provides advice and 
input to patients on the wards, in Day 
Services and in the community. 

2.	To	share	our	expertise	
locally,	nationally	and	
internationally	to	improve	
quality,	knowledge	and	
understanding	of	palliative	
and	end	of	life	care	for	
everyone.	

As an organisation we agreed three 
key areas for future research:

• Partners and families,  
• Non-malignant disease and  
• Health promotion in palliative care. 

We now have ongoing projects in  
each of these areas and a full-time  

Research Lead responsible for them. 

In the last five years, we have 
further established our position as 
an education provider by continuing 
to promote and deliver the European 
Certificate in Essential Palliative Care. 
We have become a Gold Standards 
regional training centre, supporting 
care homes and nursing homes within 
our community to help them deliver 
high quality end of life care to their 
residents. 

3.	To	reach	out	to	new	and	
existing	supporters	in	
ways	that	are	valuable	
to	them	to	help	us	build	
awareness	and	support	
and	increase	our	income.	

We have enhanced our website, 
grown our social media following and 

increased our press and PR coverage. 
We launched a new intranet for 
volunteers and staff. 

We have merged our supporter, 
retail Gift Aid donor and volunteer 
data to enhance our engagement 
with supporters. Legacy funding and 
supporter led events have been a 
major growth area for us, supported 
by our investment in community 
fundraising and we have significantly 
grown our lottery members from just 
over 5,000 to nearly 10,000. 

We increased the number of our 
shops from 30 to 44. Maximising 
their impact as windows to our 
organisation on the high street. We 
successfully launched a department 
store format and developed new 
retail concepts such as ‘Alice’s Attic’ 
and children’s boutique ‘Little Alice 
and Friends’. 

We recruited a Volunteer 
Development Manager to help us 
recruit more volunteers, to introduce 
new roles and develop corporate 
volunteering opportunities. We now 
have over 1,200 volunteers in over 
80 different roles and benefit from 
regular corporate volunteering from 
companies such as BP, DHL and M&S.

In the last five years we have 
challenged ourselves to be flexible 
- to learn from seizing considered 
opportunities. This approach has 
enabled us to take advantage of 
collaboration and partnerships 
especially in care and support. It 
puts us in a great position as we 
look towards the challenges and 
opportunities that lie ahead.

John Inverdale Opens Man Shed

Nurses celebrate International Nursing Day
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Hospice at Home
During the year our Princess Alice Nurses made over 8,520 daytime Hospice at Home visits. 

Your hospice

The Night Response Service has 
visited people across Kingston and 
Surrey Downs Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) 1,333 times and on 
976 occasions their care and support 
enabled patients to avoid a hospital 
admission.

Members of the Enhanced Support 
Service, which provides intensive 
support to patients at home, made 
2,148 visits – including 94 visits 
from members of the Medical team 
once again helping to avoid hospital 
admissions. 

By working in partnership with 
colleagues in community care, we 
have increased the support we have 
been able to provide to people in the 
last few weeks of life and ensured 
that higher numbers of people have 
remained in their homes to die if that 
is their wish. 

By September 2017, the Princess 
Alice Hospice at Home Service will 
be restructured to become more 
responsive to local needs. During the 
next year we will:

• Divide the service into four multi-
disciplinary locality teams, aligned 
with our CCGs’ geographical 
footprint. This will allow doctors, 
nurses, social workers etc to be 
involved from the start of the 
patient’s journey and should better 
meet the needs of our service 
users 

• Evaluate these changes to 
determine if the team becomes 
more efficient and effective. 
Evidence tells us that the speed 
of response from referral to 
assessment improves when staff 
work in integrated teams. 

These changes will also provide 
us with an opportunity to rethink 
some of our traditional boundaries in 
relation to working with colleagues 
from different professions. 

At a glance:
•  Princess Alice Nurses 8,520 daytime visits  
•  Doctors 610 visits  
•  Night Response Team 2,666 night visits
•  Night Sitting team 300 visits
•  Patient & Family Support 1,776 visits
•  Enhanced Support Service 2,148 visits
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Konstantina’s story
“I manage a team that provides secretarial and administrative support for all of the major clinical 
departments including the Ward, Hospice at Home, Patient and Family Support, Day Services and 
Therapies teams.  

My 14 strong team looks after these 
specialists who have busy schedules. 
We ensure they have everything they 
need to do their jobs. 

“When I took up my new post, I made 
time to understand the roles of my 
team and their needs. Together we 
have established a new way of buddy 
working which sees individuals doing 
their current roles and learning the 
skills to step in to help colleagues in 
busy periods and times of leave and 
illness. 

The new system is working well and 
we are better placed to meet the 
challenges and opportunities of the 
new five year strategy.

“I have been with the Hospice for 
four years originally joining in a 
part-time role. I love it here and 
have been delighted to have been 
promoted to more senior roles to 
use my skills. Having recently gained 
an MA, I am currently studying for a 
post graduate certificate in Research, 
Service Development, Management 
and Policy in Palliative Care at Kings 
College. The Hospice is supporting 
me a lot and I hope to be able to 
apply what I have learned here in the 
future.”

Konstantina Chatziargyriou
Quality Improvement Manager

When I took up my 
new post, I took time 
to understand the roles 
of my team and their 
needs.
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Ward 
Over the last year after implementing a wide-ranging review of the ward we introduced a new 
model of working designed to help us to reach more people.

Your care

We have: 

• Widened the mix of patients cared 
for on our ward

• Introduced new roles and ways of 
working and reviewed the nursing 
skill mix and staffing

• Increased the number of training 
placements to colleagues from 
non-specialist settings such as 
care home staff and nurses on 
return to practice courses.

Compared with the same period 
last year we have been able to 
increase the numbers of people we 
support by 20% and the feedback 
from staff has been positive - with 
92% experiencing high levels of job 
satisfaction. 

Our Together2Care project has 
enabled us to extend our reach to 
benefit patients in nursing homes 
and has strengthened relationships 
between ourselves and the nursing 
homes involved. As a result of training 
provided by our staff, more patients 

living in nursing homes have avoided 
admission to hospital and nursing 
home staff say they feel more 
confident to support a patient who is 
dying.

We launched the Ward Support 
Volunteer programme in 2015 
aimed at 17-year-olds interested 
in a career in healthcare. It has 
been a great success and our third 
cohort of young people is currently 
completing its 6-month volunteering 
programme. So far, 26 young people 
have attained the Care Certificate 
qualification. 

Thanks to generous donations from 
two Trusts, a local donor and the 
Hospital Saturday Fund, we have 
been able to renovate two existing 
rooms equipping them with sensors 
and monitors to help nurses assist 
patients with cognitive and sensory 
impairment.

As part of the new five year strategy, 
we will be introducing a new way of 
working on the ward - Home from 

Home with Princess Alice - which will 
better support families, friends and 
carers by enabling them to be more 
hands on with the care of their loved 
one. 

Home from Home with Princess Alice 
will be provided in a newly designed 
space on the ward, alongside the 
specialist unit. We have the flexibility 
and space to create three ‘home from 
home’ suites - changing the ward 
layout without dramatically reducing 
the number of beds available. If all 
goes to plan, and we raise the income 
needed, we expect this new service 
to come into effect in 2019. 

At a glance:
• 464 admissions    
• Average patient stay 12.1 days
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Alessandra’s story
“In May 2012 my partner Geraint, 48, began to complain about sharp headaches. Then one 
night in June, he woke me saying “take me to the hospital, I feel really sick”. We went to Epsom 
Hospital where tests revealed he had a stage 4 brain cancer.

Geraint was an active man who loved 
golf, flying, driving and sailing. It was 
truly devastating news. 

After surgery to remove part of the 
cancer, Geraint underwent therapy at 
the Royal Marsden in Sutton. He lost 
weight and the sight in his right eye. 

One weekend in May 2013 he had 
a really high temperature and was 
admitted for tests at the Marsden. 
I was told we had days or maybe 
weeks. Geraint was being visited at 
the Hospital by Princess Alice Nurses. 
They were absolutely magnificent, so 
when the time came to move him, I 
was very happy for Geraint to come 
to the Hospice. 

We arrived on a Friday in June. The 
room was beautiful. I thought this is 
just an amazing environment. A nurse 
brought fruit and I helped Geraint 
feed himself. He looked at me and 
said, “Thank you, that’s it.” And those 
were his last words before he went 
into a kind of semi-coma. In the early 
hours of Monday morning, a nurse 
said: “Alessandra, I think he’s ready.” 
So I was able to put my head on 
Geraint’s chest to hug him in his last 
few minutes. I’m so pleased that I was 
able to do that. 

A year later I was diagnosed with 
cancer. I wanted to help this place. 
People were very kind and supportive 
and asked me if I was really ready to 
be involved. I knew that I was.

So I started with bucket collections 
and found I like fundraising – I have 
since gotten involved in the summer 
fête and the marathon. I sold Geraint’s 
boat Allegra donating part of the 
money to Princess Alice Hospice. I am 
also leaving a Gift in my Will.

I’m still being treated for my cancer.  
I volunteer at Trinity Hospice and 
work with refugees at a Detention 
Centre in Heathrow. But it is this 
place that is so special in my heart. 
The people were amazingly kind and 

treated Geraint with compassion, 
with love and respect. I will always 
come back.”

Alessandra Pasain 
Supporter

People were very 
kind and supportive 
and asked me if I was 
really ready to be 
involved. I knew that  
I was.
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Day Services 
Day Services expanded its activities in the out-patient clinics, offering therapeutic care and 
support for patients, carers and families helping them manage symptoms and begin to regain 
control of their lives.

Your care

Man Shed was officially opened 
in June 2016, providing a place 
where people can come together 
to take part in practical activities 
while supporting each other through 
challenging life events. It is already 
proving a valued community 
resource. Open three days a week, 
the Man Shed offers woodworking, 
basic computer literacy, friendship 
and support. We have seven 
session leaders, a co-ordinator and 
an ambassador, all of whom are 
volunteers. The Shed has received 
53 referrals or ‘shedders’ who have 
been a mix of patients, carers and 
bereaved carers. Local businesses 
have provided resources and the new 
Esher Woodcarving group uses it as 
a base. 

Day Services’ support also includes 
psychological, social and spiritual 
support. Throughout the year our 
therapists delivered 6,670 individual 
and group sessions providing art 
therapy, dietetics, lymphoedema 
therapy, occupational therapy, 

physiotherapy and speech and 
language therapy. They also delivered 
1,748 complementary therapy 
sessions to patients and carers.   
Realising that patients and their 
families needed help with relaxing 
at home away from the Hospice 
environment, the team created a CD, 
“Relaxation – A range of techniques”, 
with a selection of the relaxation 
and mindfulness exercises used at 
the Hospice. Launched in February, 
the CD has been well received and is 
being used widely.

We recognise that carers have needs 
of their own and during the year we 
increased the support we offer by:
• Creating a Carers’ 

Booklet providing 
advice and information 
on nutrition, gentle 
exercise, relaxation, 
details of helpful 
organisations and 
other sources of  
information

• Launching a formal carer 
assessment into the needs of 
carers

• Holding a “Carers’ Day” at the 
Hospice

• Introducing a new volunteer 
role of ‘Carer Companion’ who is 
focused on providing support and 
friendship to carers. The role is 
particularly valuable in the period 
following the death of a loved one. 

At a glance:
•  3,070 attendances 162 people seen   
•  Physiotherapy 3,171 sessions
•  Occupational Therapy 924 sessions
•  Complementary Therapy 1,748 sessions
•  Other Therapies (Art etc ) 762 sessions
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Susan’s story
“Twelve years ago I was the Human Resources Director at Penguin Books. One of our employees 
- a very talented and much loved member of the creative team - became unwell and was cared 
for brilliantly by Princess Alice Hospice.

I was inspired to raise money and 
volunteered to take part in the 
London Triathlon ... which was quite 
a challenge being rather unfit and 
overweight. A young South African 
accountant colleague, who happened 
to be a youth triathlon champion, said 
that if I did a better time than him 
he’d wear a dress to work. His training 
was largely in the pub, mine in the 
gym... On the day I was faster, by 
three minutes. A red velvet gown was 
duly purchased from a charity shop 
and he paraded the offices rattling a 
bucket. Thousands were raised and 
we were invited to visit the Hospice.

Afterwards I made a private 
commitment to volunteer at the 
hospice. When, later, I was offered 
a new job, I took it, on the condition 
I would be part time enabling me 
to volunteer. So in January 2006, I 
became a Day Hospice volunteer.” 
Upon retiring in 2009, I also joined 
the Bereavement Support team. 
It has been a real pleasure and a 
privilege to volunteer with the Day 
Hospice team over the past decade. 
The patients are wonderful, each with 
such an interesting life story.

The role of a Day Hospice volunteer 
is essentially to make patients feel 
welcome and comfortable and to 
support the staff as needed. This 
can entail being a good listening ear, 
washing the dishes, singing along 
in musical activities, serving lunch, 
leading craft or general interest 
activities, and being a smiling 
helpful face on the team. The other 
volunteers are lovely people and I 
have made some good friends.”

Susan Taylor
Volunteer

It has been a real 
pleasure and a 
privilege to volunteer 
with the Day Hospice 
team over the past 
decade. 
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Patient and Family Support
In the last year, we mapped the ‘Journey of Support’ for pre-bereaved and  
bereaved families and carers.  

Your care

This has resulted in changing the way 
that we communicate to families 
and carers and the information we 
provide. It has also led us to introduce 
two new initiatives:

• A monthly Early Bereavement 
Group for people who are in the 
first four months of bereavement

• Bereavement Cafés, which are 
being led and supported by the 
Hospice’s Chaplain. This concept 
was launched in October 2016 in 
partnership with two faith groups 
in Epsom and Ewell. A community-
based café opened in Banstead in 
February 2017 and two further 
cafés are in development. 

Our specially trained team of 
bereavement volunteers continued 
to offer vital support for families, 
young children and teenagers helping 
them with one to one sessions or 
group support. We were very pleased 
to learn our Bereavement Service 
Volunteers had been awarded the 
Queen’s Award for Voluntary Service 
– the highest Award given to local 
volunteer groups in the UK. 

In addition, our Dovetail Group for 
bereaved children, young people 
and adults was featured on BBC’s 
Countryfile as part of the Children  
 

in Need Appeal telling the story of the 
Shilston Family. 

The community-based (and 
volunteer-led) befriending, Hospice 
Neighbours service, which provides 
practical support and companionship 
to patients, their families and carers 
continues to go from strength to 
strength. We currently have 25 
neighbours. In the last year, they 
supported 50 families and gave over 
1,000 hours of their time.

At a glance:
•  Hospice Neighbours 359 support visits   
•  Dovetail Group 661 support sessions for bereaved children
•  Bereavement Support 2,580 support sessions
•  Chaplaincy 2,000 support visits
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Maggie’s story
“I started volunteering when I retired and I found I had some spare time. I wanted to do 
something useful. I volunteer as a Bereavement Support Volunteer offering one to one sessions 
and group sessions to bereaved families and friends. 

I like being part of this great team. It’s  
very supportive and friendly, there’s 
always someone to talk to if I need 
advice or if I just want a chat.

We have small group supervision 
once a month and whole team 
meetings bi-monthly. I probably 
spend about 25 hours a month 
volunteering in this role. I get upset 
at times and that can be hard but the 
positives are enormous.

Our training was one full day, every 
week, for 12 weeks. The training 
was extensive and consolidated 
everything with role play and 
small group work. It gave me the 
confidence and skills I needed to start 
my new role. 

I think you need to be a good listener, 
prepared to commit and a good team 
player. You also need to be open 
to other people’s views and accept 
differences.

I would thoroughly recommend 
volunteering as a bereavement 
support volunteer - you get so much 
more from it than you think you will.”

Maggie Wright 
Volunteer

It is so rewarding 
seeing a client 
accepting that life 
is different but still 
worthwhile.
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Education
Over the last year, the education team has continued to ensure the spread of best practice in end 
of life care. 

Your care

We worked alongside a number of 
other south London hospices to 
provide an accredited Quality Credit 
Framework Award in Awareness of 
End of Life Care. We partnered with 
Hospice UK and other organisations 
to explore the potential of tele 
learning and have refreshed and 
relaunched Learningzone, increasing 
our online courses. We have also 
taken the learning we have gained 
from working closely with Milverton 
Nursing Home to extend training 
programmes to other nursing homes 
in our community.  

We have encouraged staff and 
volunteers to engage in research 
projects with academic institutions 
and national organisations. Our 
research strategy has focused on 
three core areas: 

• Families. Working alongside 
colleagues at the University of 
Surrey, we are researching into the 

needs of patients who are parents 
of small children. We have secured 
a PhD student to look at the 
educational needs of health and 
social care professionals working 
with families in end of life care  

• Health	promotion. Around our 
Hospice there are numerous 
initiatives promoting health in 
patients, families and staff – 
including an exercise intervention 
for day hospice patients, the 
development of the hospice 
choir, the new ward model and 
our bereavement cafés. We have 
published five academic papers 
and presented 17 posters at 
conferences and worked closely 
with Hospice UK, submitting 
features, news and blogs  

• Non-malignant	disease. Our 
teams have been working in 
partnership with both Kingston, 
and Epsom and St Helier NHS 

Trusts to investigate the services 
that influence the lives of people 
with dementia in the last year of 
life. This research project will be 
completed in 2017.

In the coming year we will increase 
our focus on embedding research 
internally, collaborating with internal 
and external partners, and promoting 
ourselves as a “research active” 
hospice – engaging with staff and 
supporting them as both researchers 
and enablers of research.  

We know that by sharing knowledge 
and experience with colleagues in 
other settings we can improve end of 
life and palliative care for more people 
in our community and beyond.
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Liz’s story
“I came into post in 2013 with the remit of promoting the Princess Alice Hospice as a 
research active organisation.  

Through consultation with staff we 
developed a research strategy to 
focus our attention on the national 
and organisational priorities for 
research. 

We agreed to concentrate on 3 
key areas: partners and families, 
non-malignant disease and health 
promotion in palliative care. Over 
the last 4 years we have initiated 
projects in each of these areas. Some 
are our own Hospice projects but 
it is important for us also to look at 
collaborations outside of the Hospice. 
For example we are currently working 
with Professor Emma Ream and her 
team from the University of Surrey 
to develop research into the needs 
of patients who are parents of young 
children.

My role can be very varied, I am 
responsible for the development 
and implementation of the 
organisational research strategy, 
the management and dissemination 
of research activity at the Hospice 
and research collaborations. This 
includes collaboration with external 
research partners, other hospices 
and academics and researchers 
who approach us to recruit to their 
studies. 

A national survey showed that 92% 
of patients in the UK think research 
should be a normal part of healthcare 
and 46% of hospice patients 
expressed an interest in research. 

With the launch of the new five year 
strategy, we are currently planning 
how to align our research with both 
this and the national research focus 
over the next 3-5 years. These are 
exciting times to develop a portfolio 

of research and collaborate with 
external partners to influence end of 
life and palliative care in the future.”

Dr Liz Reed
Research Lead

No day is the same 
and I am able to work 
alongside the many 
different professionals 
and volunteers working 
in the Hospice, as well 
as spending time with 
patients.
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Income Generation
Over the past year we have increased income from donations and retail as we develop in 
memory giving, opened new shops and improve supporter and customer experience.   

We have intensified our efforts to 
listen to supporters and work with 
them to secure much needed funds 
for the Hospice.

We launched a new way of working 
with the community based on 
supporters having a single contact 
within the fundraising team 
regardless of what activities they 
choose to do now and in the future. 
This has already had a positive effect 
on supporter experience and our 
ability to generate more income. 

During the year, our supporter care 
and retail administration teams 
worked closely together sharing best 
practice and improving supporter 
information. As a result,  
we successfully delivered statements 
of annual giving earlier than the 
previous year. They outline an 
individual’s contribution to our 
Hospice and the difference that it 
makes. 

In May we wrote to our supporters 
and sent a copy of the spring 
newsletter. This spoke about the 

launch of a retail campaign to 
encourage the volume of quality 
furniture donations, the importance 
of legacy giving and details of our 
income generation goals to support 
the new five year strategy. The 
newsletter raised a healthy £46,000. 

We also enjoyed success with the 
“Care through the Night” appeal 
which highlighted the important work 
that we do supporting patients and 
families in their own homes at night, 
raising £53,000. 

To provide a way for people who 
would like to remember a loved one 
or friend who has benefited from 
our care, we launched the Giving 
Dove. This metal sculpture sits in the 
reception area and is proving popular 
- so far 28 feathers have been 
sponsored.

During the latter part of the year 
we have refocused our efforts 
on securing more Gifts in Wills; 
developing a new overarching 
campaign which we are calling “a 
memory everlasting”. This focuses on 

the lasting impact that a Gift in a Will 
can have on the Hospice. 

Thanks to our loyal supporters our 
shops continue to perform well in a 
challenging market. Growth in the 
donations of furniture throughout the 
year was matched by solid demand 
for goods in our specialist shops.  

We have continued to open new 
shops - we now have 44 - and 
developed and improved some of 
the existing ones. We opened a new 
department store-style shop in 
Hounslow with eye-catching pink 
fascia and a contemporary interior. 
The Twickenham shop relocated and 
was refurbished in the new style and 
the home and children’s shop in Old 
London Road and our shop in Esher 
were also refurbished. 

To reach more people and to 
counter increased competition on 
the High Street from larger national 
charities, we are examining potential 
opportunities for shops beyond the 
boundaries of our care area.

Your hospice
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Ben’s story
“My initial relationship with Princess Alice Hospice was perhaps the most intense experience of 
my life - the admission of my wife, Marilyn, to the hospice on Christmas Eve 2012 where she 
enjoyed (I use the term deliberately), the final three weeks of her life. 

Four years on my memories, and 
those of our three grown up children, 
are still vivid and bitter sweet. Marilyn 
felt safe, her needs met, her pain 
controlled. She could allow herself 
time to do the things she wanted 
and needed to do. Released from 
responsibility for her physical care, we 
were able to share this time and be 
alongside her.

After Marilyn’s death a huge hole 
opened up. I was restless. I had an 
odd sense of energy with nowhere 
obvious to put it. My children also felt 
a “debt of gratitude” and wanted us 
all to do something together. 

We decided over the course of a year 
to try to raise the equivalent of the 
cost of Marilyn’s care. We set up an 
online tribute page, organised a quiz 
night and auction and a family and 
friends London to Paris bike ride. We 
entered teams for the Midnight Walk 
and Towpath Trundle. My son and 
his friends rode the Surrey 100, my 
sister-in-law sold cakes and friends 
ran a 10k race.

Within 12 months we reached our 
£30,000 target. 

Our	fundraising	efforts:
• Gave us a sense of purpose and 

direction.

• Enabled us to talk about Marilyn, 
to share memories and to begin 
letting her go. 

• Allowed us to demonstrate to 
others and ourselves that we were 
going to be OK.

• Helped us to maintain connections 
with the Hospice in a positive and 
appropriate way. 

Although we knew there was no 
expectation or requirement to 
pay our way, it felt good to have 
redressed this “debt” in a small way. 
We were delighted to be asked if 
some of the funds raised in Marilyn’s 
name could be used as “seed money” 
for the Hospice Community Choir. 

Now, I’m making a transition from 
being a bereaved supporter to just 
being a supporter. Not everything 
I do for charity has to be for the 
Hospice - though it will continue to 
be front of mind when giving money, 
effort or time.” 

Ben Makins 
Supporter

Within 12 months we 
reached our £30,000 
target. A benefit to the 
Hospice but the value to 
us was enormous. 

Ben and his family at the start of their charity bike ride
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Volunteering, Marketing Communications 
and Operations
We are proud of the high quality care our teams provide, but their work would not be possible without 
the vital support services provided by departments that work hard - largely behind the scenes. 

Your hospice

The Volunteer Department has 
successfully extended its reach into 
the wider community using local 
radio and press. We have been able 
to recruit into new roles that help 
us provide more support to patients 
and their loved ones - including the 
role of Carer Companion. These 
volunteers provide support and 
friendship to people who are caring 
for loved ones – often with little 
respite.  We now have six Carer 
Companions in post, including one of 
our previously bereaved carers. 

We took the opportunity to create 
a new combined Marketing and 
Communications Department so 
that we could better focus on the 
way that we communicate with both 
our supporters and the people who 
experience our care and support.  
One of the first projects the team 
took on was to map out the support 
and information that we provide to 
families before and after the death of 
a loved one.  

As a result we created new materials 
offering advice and bereavement 
support that was more relevant to 
the situation that the family was 
facing at that moment in time. The 
department delivered a three-month 
road tour of our care area with staff 
and volunteers to mark our 30th 
anniversary to thank supporters 
and demystify our work. It has also 
been closely involved in work to 
develop materials to promote the 
new five year strategy and to support 
engagement programmes for staff 
and volunteers.

The Operations Team led on the 
installation of the Man Shed, liaising 
closely with local authorities, builders 
and suppliers to deliver the project 
on time and on budget. During the 
year the team extended its practical 
support to shops with the creation 
of a dedicated on-call support role. 
Catering and Ward Support Services 
developed new ways to support 
the ward and day services, working 

closely with our dietician to develop 
a range of smoothies and employing 
moulds to make food more appetising 
for patients.

At the same time as supporting the 
IT infrastructure, the Information 
and Communications Technology 
team has worked closely with 
retail managers and the internal 
communication officer to extend the 
reach of the intranet, dovenet, to our 
shops and volunteers.

The HR team’s promotion of new 
ideas such as the buying and selling 
of annual leave and workplace 
shadowing have proved popular with 
staff and have laid the groundwork 
for other new initiatives. Elsewhere, 
the consistent professional support of 
our Housekeeping, Accounts, Clinical 
and other Admin staff has ensured 
the smooth running of the hospice 
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Vanessa’s story
“Life can be full of happy accidents. Volunteering can lead to opportunities to contribute in ways 
you didn’t first imagine.  

Shortly after taking my degree, I 
was offered a chance to volunteer 
for a local homelessness charity. I 
really enjoyed it and it changed the 
direction of my life propelling me 
through other spells of volunteering - 
including time with Voluntary Service 
Overseas in Rwanda - to my present 
role with Princess Alice Hospice.   

Our Hospice places a lot of 
emphasis on really getting to know 
our volunteers. Recently we have 
begun to engage with them in new 
ways that harness their skills, life 
experiences and local knowledge 
identifying valuable new roles such 
as Hospice Neighbours, Bereavement 
Support or others which the person 
may never have thought of taking 
up. We have recently established a 
new post of Volunteer Recruitment 
and Community Engagement Officer 
to take this idea forward - it’s very 
exciting. 

One of the greatest joys of my job 
is to see people develop and grow 
and take pleasure in contributing. In 
this way, both the Hospice and every 
individual gains something of great 
value. Growing volunteering is an 
important part of our new five year 
strategy. We are hoping to engage 
with new audiences and the wider 
community to expand and broaden 
our volunteer force - extending our 
reach to support our plans”.

Vanessa Hill  
Volunteer Manager

One of the greatest joys 
of my job is to see people 
develop and grow and take 
pleasure in contributing.

Vanessa and Marks & Spencer volunteers
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New Five Year Strategy
The next five years will be even more challenging. The future holds increasing demand for our 
services and stronger competition for both skilled people and vital funds.

Your hospice

We currently support 1 in 4 people 
who die in our community. An aging 
population means the number of 
deaths in our community will rise by 
25% from 8,000 to 10,000 per year. 
To continue only to do what we do 
now would see us caring for a steadily 
diminishing proportion of the people 
who could benefit from our support. 

We want to make our care, support 
and expertise go even further. 

So, over the last year we consulted 
widely - to test ideas and to gain 
consensus. 

This work has enabled us to develop 
a strong and considered response to 
the increasing need. 

Our	new	vision	is:	

Our communities will have 
the best care and support 
before, during and after 
death. 
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We	are	making	it	our	mission:	

To reach out to more 
people by delivering 
outstanding care, nurturing 
compassionate communities, 
sharing our knowledge and 
expertise and influencing the 
debate around death and 
dying. 
To achieve this we have set ourselves 
three challenging goals:

1.	We	will	be	recognised	
for	the	outstanding	care	we	
provide
We will use specialist expertise to 
develop wide ranging approaches to 
end of life care and support to help 
more people live life to the full and 
when the time comes to have a good 
death:

• By expanding Princess Alice 
Hospice at Home to create 
dedicated local teams which will 
give personalised care and support 
in the right place at the right time

• By setting up a 24 hour online 
and telephone support service to 
provide advice and guidance to 
both the public and professionals

• By exploring new ways of 
providing high quality care in the 
Hospice – including introducing 
Home from Home with Princess 
Alice (see p8). 

2.	We	will	nurture	
compassionate	communities
We will give communities the skills 
and confidence to support people 
through caring, dying, grief and loss:

• By working alongside carers and 
introducing ways to help them 
develop and share their expertise

• By opening our Bereavement 
Support Services to more people, 
diverse communities and groups 

• By building links with schools, 
community groups, companies and 

other organisations to encourage 
discussion around death, dying, 
grief and loss.

3.	We	will	share	knowledge	
and	expertise	and	influence	
the	debate	around	death		
and	dying
We will raise awareness of high 
quality, end of life care by sharing 
our skills, knowledge, research and 
opinions:

• By developing a far-reaching 
education and training programme

• By nurturing an organisational 
culture in which applied research 
and learning is a core activity that 
underpins all aspects of our work 

• By seeking partnerships, and 
collaborations and engaging in 
wider discussions locally, nationally 
and internationally

• By publishing and promoting our 
work and fostering strong research 
links to create networks with 
other hospices and key academic 
research centres.

We will use cross-organisational 
business planning to drive these 
ambitious plans forward and we will 
encourage teams and individuals to 
work together on smaller projects 
sharing ideas and skills.

Many people dedicate their lives and 
careers to the Hospice so we want to 
offer them better choices about their 
growth and development. We will 
need to attract and retain people with 
talent and to increase the number of 
active supporters and volunteers. To 
do this, we have developed a Talent 
and People Strategy (see p22) that 
will be implemented in the coming 
months. 

We will exploit digital technology 
across all aspects of our business, 
providing our people with the best 
technological solutions and training to 
enable them to work more smartly. 
We will seek an external partner to 
assess our current position and to 

help us to develop a digital strategy 
that will identify where we should 
focus first for the most impact.

We will invest in our physical 
infrastructure - redeveloping 
the Hospice building in Esher and 
enhancing and increasing our physical 
presence in the High Street. 

Our ambition needs an 
increase in funds to support 
it. We will need to grow 
annual net income from £9 
million to at least £12 million 
by 2022. 
By 2022 we have set ourselves the 
goal of increasing annual fundraising 
income to £3.3 million and raising 
the contribution from shops to £1.2 
million. Some 20% of current income 
comes from gifts in supporters’ Wills. 
By promoting the importance of 
these gifts to support our ability to 
care, we hope to increase this annual 
income to £5 million a year by 2022. 

We will continue to put the 
user, supporter and customer 
experience at the centre of all 
we do. By 2022, if we succeed 
in these goals, we will have 
made a huge difference in 
our communities and for the 
patients and families that we 
are here to help.
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Supporting our people
By the end of 2016, nearly all of our staff and volunteers had attended one of a series of 
workshops to share their ideas about the future shape and needs of their workplace.  

Your hospice

The Talent & People Strategy will 
seek to grow, nurture and sustain 
both great leadership and flexible, 
engaged and skilled people. 

Nurturing	talent	
We will support those who wish 
to grow and learn within their 
chosen role and offer opportunities 
to pursue fresh openings within 
the organisation to those who 
wish to diversify their skills. We 
will implement new programmes 
including: apprenticeships, graduate 
traineeships, future skills and 
knowledge coaching, and leadership 
programmes.  

Harnessing	skills	
We will build on existing good 
practice in the Hospice to ensure 
everyone has regular coaching and 
development conversations with 
managers and mentors. We will 
provide opportunities for volunteers 

to harness their skills, life experiences 
and cultural backgrounds within 
new roles engaging with community 
groups as well as encouraging them 
to take an active part in our work. 

Supporting	teamworking	
We will support cross-organisational 
teamworking by exploring new 
leadership development programmes 
which build strong relationships and 
informal networks. We will ensure 
our people are digitally enabled to 
better connect and engage with 
each other, our patients, carers, 
families, supporters and customers. 
We will also promote volunteering in 
other departments, cross function 
buddying and random pairing of 
colleagues. 

Recognition	and	reward	
Individual and team objectives 
will link to the Hospice’s new five 
year organisational strategy by 

setting “stretch targets” to enhance 
motivation, performance and 
innovation. We will benchmark our 
remuneration packages against the 
market and keep them under regular 
review. We will also provide greater 
opportunities for smarter and flexible 
working - including remote working, 
job sharing, flexitime, telecommuting 
and compressed hours.

Providing	a	good	workplace	
We will equip the Hospice building to 
facilitate new ways of working and 
learning, with flexible workstations, 
video conferencing and greater use of 
wireless technology. We will continue 
to invest in our retail shops to provide 
a safe, welcoming and well-equipped 
working environment that gives 
customers and supporters a great 
experience - making them great 
places in which to shop, work and 
volunteer. 



Priority	One:	Developing	new	models	of	end	of	life	care	and	support	to	enable	more	people	to	benefit	from	our	
specialist	skills	and	expertise
• We will work on developing new ways of providing care in the Hospice including developing the concept of Home 

from Home with Princess Alice
• We will expand the Hospice at Home service to provide an increase in rapid response and enhanced support 

services in localised teams across our catchment area
• We will develop plans for setting up a 24hr online and telephone support service to provide advice and guidance to 

both the public and professionals
• We will start to address inequity in access to care and support by analysing clinical data to establish a clear picture 

of the need in the wider population 
• We will review day services to develop new, cost-effective approaches to delivering care and support both  

in-hospice and in community settings
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Key Objectives for 2017-18 

Priority	Two:	Empowering	the	local	community	with	the	knowledge,	skills,	confidence	and	support	to	engage	with	
death,	dying	and	loss
• We will introduce new models of education and support - establishing  a head of department to focus on 

Community Engagement and supporting cross organisational solutions 
• We will use the feedback from the carer’s survey and bereavement journey work to shape our approach
• We will develop and expand bereavement support services so that they are available to anyone within the local 

community who has recently experienced the death of a loved one
• We will establish a community outreach programme that can be developed and refined year on year

Priority	Three:	Sharing	knowledge	and	expertise	and	influencing	the	debate	around	death	and	dying	by		
further	investing	in	education,	training	and	research
• We will develop and market digital and face to face education and training to staff, external health and social care 

professionals and lay audiences
• We will seek further partnerships and collaborations to extend the reach and impact of education activity
• We will build on success, knowledge and experience as a research active hospice by developing existing 

collaborations, cultivating new relationships and refreshing our research strategy to ensure that it aligns with our 
new five year strategy 

Priority	Five:	Improving	the	way	we	work
• We will continue to invest in our Esher site to ensure that the space can be used as effectively as possible - 

refurbishing older parts of the building and allocating new space for teams as appropriate
• We will review our supporting business processes and procedures, eliminating those that add no value and 

redesigning others to maximise the benefits of technology
• We will develop a workforce strategy to ensure that we have the right skills and expertise in the right quantities at 

the right cost to successfully deliver our strategy

Priority	Four:	Ensuring	that	we	will	be	here	for	the	local	community	when	they	need	us	now	and	in	the	future 
• We will bring the Hospice closer to its supporters to ensure they understand our need for funds by introducing 

campaign-led fundraising aligned to services, evolving cause led messaging for shops and developing our digital 
channels to ensure information is easy to access and interact with 

• We will seek to increase the number of people who remember us by leaving a gift in their Will by launching a 
bespoke marketing campaign and facilitating wider regional legacy marketing campaigns with other hospices 

• We will exploit new and additional retail and commercial opportunities
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Your hospice

Structure, governance  
and management
Princess Alice Hospice was incorporated as a company limited by guarantee on 25 November 
1981 and is governed by its Articles of Association. It is registered with the Charity Commission 
in England and Wales with its registered office at West End Lane, Esher, Surrey KT10 8NA.

Objectives 
The Hospice is an independent charity 
working across a large part of Surrey, 
south west London and Middlesex. 
The care and support we provide is 
free. We are here to give patients 
the best possible quality of life and 
deliver high-quality compassionate 
care and support. Family, carers and 
close friends have needs of their own 
and we are here to provide them with 
support, comfort and advice at every 
stage of their loved one’s illness and 
after death. Through our education 
and research, we also work to 
improve end of life care. Founded by 
our local community, fundraising and 
community support are crucial to our 
continuing work as a charity.

How we are governed 
Our Board of Trustees is responsible 
for overseeing the Hospice’s strategy 
and performance. It has been chaired 
since 13 September 2016 by Fiona 
Ross, who took over the role from 
Ian Elder with effect from that 
date. The Board meets regularly 
throughout the year to consider, 
set and review strategies, policies, 
budgets, plans and performance. 
Members of the Hospice’s Senior 
Management Team provide reports 
for these meetings and they, and 
a representative of the Friends’ 
Committees, attend the meetings and 
take part in the discussion. The Board 
has delegated some of its powers 
and responsibilities to the following 
committees: Clinical Strategy, Finance, 
Fundraising and Communication, 

Governance, Infrastructure, Retail and 
Remuneration. There is also an Audit 
Sub-Committee, which reports to the 
Finance Committee. Each committee 
has written terms of reference that 
define its procedures, responsibilities 
and any areas where the committee 
has the authority to make decisions 
without consulting the Board. These 
terms of reference are agreed by the 
Board and are reviewed annually. 

The membership of committees is 
made up of Trustees and specific 
individuals selected as committee 
members, as described in more 
detail below. Members of the Senior 
Management Team also attend 
committee meetings relevant to 
them. Each committee’s chairman 
reports to the Board on the major 
issues discussed by the committee 
since the last Board meeting, any 
decisions made as well as relevant 
decisions that need to be made by 
the Board. Minutes of committee 
meetings are circulated to the Board. 
The Board defines and reviews which 
matters are its own responsibility, 
which matters can be delegated to its 
committees and which management 
and operational matters can be 
delegated to the Chief Executive. 
The Board allows the Chief Executive 
to sub-delegate these matters to 
members of the Senior Management 
Team and other staff.

Committees 
The Clinical Strategy Committee 
is chaired by Jane Hogg and is 
responsible for overseeing clinical 

strategy and education. It monitors 
day to day clinical operations and 
performance against the annual 
clinical business plan and education 
business plan. It brings any divergence 
from these plans to the Board’s 
attention, recommending action 
where necessary. It also oversees 
relationships with our health and 
social care partners regarding 
grants, contracts and service level 
agreements. The committee monitors 
health and education policies 
and keeps the Board informed as 
appropriate.

The Finance Committee is chaired 
by Peter Quest and oversees the 
finances of the Hospice and its 
subsidiary companies. It is responsible 
for reviewing and recommending 
to the Board the financial strategy 
and the annual budget and monitors 
performance against these. The 
committee is also responsible for 
overseeing the investment of the 
Hospice’s funds and recommending 
to the Board the appointment of an 
investment manager. It reviews the 
investment manager’s performance, 
keeping him aware of any changes in 
the Hospice’s circumstances which 
might affect his responsibilities. 

The Fundraising and 
Communication Committee is 
chaired by Jeannine Nolan and deals 
with fundraising activities (except 
for NHS grants and retail income), 
as well as communicating the 
Hospice’s vision, mission and services 
to patients, carers, healthcare 
professionals and the public.  
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It reviews the fundraising and 
communication strategy and business 
plans before passing them to the 
Board for approval.
The Governance Committee is 
chaired by Fiona Ross (Ian Elder until 
September 2016) and deals with the 
corporate governance of the Hospice. 
It is responsible for reviewing the 
appointment and re-appointment of 
Trustees and committee members 
and making recommendations with 
respect to these to the Board. It is also 
responsible for overseeing the annual 
review of major risks and reporting on 
this to the Board as well as reporting 
to the Board on any changes that may 
need to be made in order to comply 
with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Infrastructure Committee 
is chaired by Christopher Roshier 
and is responsible for overseeing 
the Hospice’s physical infrastructure 
and recommending to the Board, 
after consultation with the Finance 
Committee regarding funding, 
renovations or extensions that it 
considers advantageous to that 
infrastructure. It is also responsible 
for monitoring progress regarding any 
renovations or improvements being 
carried out at the Hospice and advising 
the Board on overcoming any issues 
that arise with such projects.

The Remuneration Committee is 
chaired by Fiona Ross (Ian Elder until 
September 2016) and meets once a 
year to consider salary increases for 
the Chief Executive and members 
of the Senior Management Team as 
well as any change proposed in overall 
remuneration.

The Retail Committee is chaired by 
Despina Don-Wauchope (Andrew 
McIntosh until December 2016) and 

oversees all matters relating to the retail 
operations of the Hospice. It reviews 
the retail strategy and the annual retail 
business plan before passing these to 
the Board for approval. It monitors the 
wider retail environment, particularly 
in respect of other charities, and is 
responsible for entering into, and 
renewing, property leases for shops.

The Audit Sub-Committee is chaired 
by Peter Quest and deals with all audit 
and internal control matters relating 
to the Hospice and its subsidiary 
companies. It reports to the Finance 
Committee. It manages the relationship 
with the external auditors and reviews 
feedback on their work on an annual 
basis before recommending, or not, 
their reappointment. It reviews, and 
recommends to the Finance Committee, 
the annual financial statements and also 
reviews, on a regular basis, controls over 
operational matters.

Trustees
The Trustees of the Hospice are the 
directors of Princess Alice Hospice 
for the purposes of the Companies 
Act 2006. There is a short biography 
of Trustees on page 43. One of the 
Trustees usually serves as Vice Chair 
of the Board and Andrew McIntosh 
took over this role from Fiona Ross on 
13 September 2016. Trustees and 
committee members are not paid and 
give their time voluntarily. The Charity 
Commission has given permission 
for the Hospice to provide Trustee 
Indemnity Insurance cover.

Introducing  
new trustees and 
committee members
We are particularly pleased to welcome 
three valued new trustees this year: 

Despina Don-Wauchope, Nigel Haig-
Brown and Andrew Sesemann.

In addition to trustees, the Board 
appoints individuals who it considers 
have the appropriate qualifications and 
experience to its committees and sub-
committees. We appoint new trustees 
and committee members through a 
careful selection process, which usually 
involves public advertisements and 
interviews. People usually serve as 
a committee member before being 
considered as a trustee. However, the 
Board may appoint suitable people 
direct to the position of a trustee. The 
Board believes it is vital to get a mix of 
trustees with medical, legal, financial, 
investment, fundraising and retail skills, 
as well as skills and experience drawn 
from the local community. Trustees are 
initially appointed for two years and 
may then be re-appointed for up to two 
more four-year periods (a maximum 
of 10 years). Committee members are 
usually appointed to the committee 
for two years. Their appointment can 
be renewed, and can continue to be 
renewed, by mutual agreement. The 
Board can end the appointment at 
any time. During the year, there were 
11 non-trustee committee members 
serving on Hospice committees. New 
trustees and new committee members 
receive an induction and training 
specific to their role, as well as attending 
the Hospice’s induction day for all new 
employees and volunteers.

Senior  
Management Team
The Hospice internal management 
structure is made up of five 
directorates, each led by one member 
of the Senior Management Team.  
These directorates are:
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• Clinical services - covering 
in-patient care, day-patient care, 
community care, therapeutic care, 
social work, bereavement care and 
chaplaincy and education.

• Medical - covering doctors  
including consultants.

• Finance and operations - 
covering finance, information 
and communication technology, 
operational services, human 
resources, volunteering, clinical 
support services and catering.

• Fundraising, Marketing and 
Communications - covering 
all income generation and 
communication activities apart from 
that deriving from the NHS or retail 
activities.

• Retail - covering all aspects of the 
retail shops.

A list of each of the members of the 
Senior Management Team is on page 
43.

Remuneration Policy
The Hospice directly employs medical 
consultants, doctors, nurses and other 
allied professional healthcare staff 
who are paid at a rate equivalent to 
the relevant national scale for their 
profession. For the remainder of our 
roles when setting salaries we take 
into account the knowledge, skills, 
experience and effort needed for 
the job and market forces affecting 
recruitment. We benchmark against 
available information such as 
comparable roles being advertised 
locally and charity salary surveys. We 
take part in salary surveys ourselves 
and benchmark against a range of our 
peers.

Internal  
controls and risk 
management processes
The Trustees are responsible for the 
Hospice’s internal control systems and 
for making sure these continue to be 
effective. These systems are designed 
to prevent, as far as possible, material 
misstatement or loss. 

The Hospice has a thorough annual 
planning and budgeting process which 
is approved by the Trustees. To help 
develop this planning, an assessment 
is made of the care needs we wish to 
meet and this is then balanced against 
the income we expect to receive. The 
Finance Committee reviews the Annual 
Budget in detail before passing it to the 
Board for approval. 

Our financial reporting system 
compares actual results against the 
phased budget each month with the 
Finance Committee reviewing these 
results at its meetings. The Audit Sub-
Committee reviews specific aspects 
of internal controls on a rolling basis. 
When this sub-committee decides to 
review any specific operational aspect, 
appropriate members of the senior 
management team must report on the 
controls in place in that area. 

Note 19 of the Financial Statements 
shows that last year legacies accounted 
for 37% of our total net income (which 
is line with longer term trends but 
significantly less than 2016 which was 
exceptional at 50%) and NHS grant 
income which while down slightly year 
on year represented 23% (2016 - 
20%). The Board has assumed in its 
strategic plans that there will not be 
a significant drop in either source of 
income over the next few years, but 
both sources of income depend on 

decisions which are largely outside the 
Hospice’s control. However, the Board 
feels that the Hospice’s balance sheet is 
sufficiently robust to provide resilience 
and that our reserves should allow 
the Hospice time to respond if there 
should be any temporary or long-term 
reduction in these sources of income. 

The Hospice takes a number of steps 
to deliver our fundraising programme 
to the highest of standards and to 
prevent inappropriate fundraising from 
vulnerable people. We are registered 
with the Fundraising Regulator and we 
ensure our fundraising, and that of our 
external agencies, complies with the law 
and the Code of Fundraising Practice.  
To find out more about how we 
fundraise visit www.pah.org.uk/
fundraising-approach.

Reserves
The Hospice relies heavily on legacies 
and NHS grant income and, as stated, 
these depend on decisions which are 
largely outside the Hospice’s control. 
Accordingly, the Hospice sets aside 
funds in a designated Running Costs 
Reserve to meet future charitable 
expenditure to cover the situation 
should there be a significant short-term 
drop in income. 

The Hospice sets a balanced on-going 
operational budget in cash terms for 
the coming year. The budget may also 
incorporate other possible investment 
initiatives that should be able to pay 
for themselves within a few years. The 
amount of investment will depend on 
how much is available in the Running 
Costs Reserve for which the Trustees 
have set a target of 9 months’ (plus or 
minus 3 months’) budgeted charitable 
expenditure. The balance on this reserve 
at the year-end represented 8 months 
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(2015 – 8 months) of the Hospice’s 
budgeted charitable expenditure for 
2016/17. 

Last year the Hospice set up a new 
designated fund, the Strategic 
Development Reserve, to support the 
delivery of our next five year strategy 
2017- 2022. As part of the 2017/18 
budget process, the Hospice reviewed 
a schedule of costs related to proposed 
strategic initiatives to be drawn down 
from this reserve in the coming year. 

Last year the Hospice set up designated 
funds for the refurbishment of both the 
older part of the Hospice building and 
our retail chain. The older part of the 
building dates from 1993 and is now in 
need of bringing up to standard in order 
to deliver the new five year strategy. 
The intention is that this work will be 
carried out within the next year. The 
use of the funds for the refurbishment 
of our retail chain has been largely used 
during the last year. Notes 5 to 7 of 
the Financial Statements provide more 
detail on these and other reserves.

The Trustees consider that the Hospice 
has sufficient readily available money 
in current bank and building society 
accounts and investment funds to 
enable it to pay for on-going operations 
during the year to come.

Investments
As set out in the Articles, the Trustees 
can invest the Hospice’s reserves in 
banks and building society deposits, 
stocks, funds, shares or other securities 
they think are appropriate. The only 
ethical restriction is that there must be 
no direct investment in any securities 
issued by tobacco companies. The 
Board has agreed an investment 
policy which splits the Hospice’s total 

investments into two portfolios:

• A Liquid Reserves Portfolio 
split into two tranches with slightly 
different investment horizons: the 
first with an investment time horizon 
of up to 12 months and the second 
with an investment time horizon 
of up to 3 years. The first tranche 
is held in bank and building society 
deposits and the second tranche is 
currently held in Absolute Return 
Funds; and

• An Investment Portfolio 
consisting of funds that the Board 
does not think will be needed in the 
short term for working capital. The 
Investment Policy sets the aim of 
the Investment Portfolio as being to 
maximise total return on these funds 
over five to ten years with a medium 
risk approach.

Both the Liquid Reserves and 
Investment Portfolios are managed on a 
discretionary basis by Cazenove Capital 
Management, a firm of professional 
investment managers. As at 31 March 
2017 the Liquid Reserve fund totalled 
£2,043,540 (2016 - £2,481,128) 
and the Investment Portfolio 
£4,866,235 (2016 - £4,154,219).

The Finance Committee and our 
investment managers regularly review 
the performance of the investments 
in meeting the Hospice’s investment 
policy. The market value of the 
Investment Portfolio increased by 
£677,497 during the year, following 
a fall of £122,317 in 2015/16. More 
details about our investments are in 
Note 11 of the Financial Statements.

Staff
Our work is only possible because of the 
dedicated service that our staff provide, 

and we would like to thank them for 
their hard work and commitment. 
The Hospice employs more than 400 
people, the equivalent of 318 full-time 
staff. This compares with 303 full-time 
staff equivalent in the previous year.

Volunteers
We are grateful for the work of the 
1,200 or so volunteers who willingly 
and unstintingly give their time at 
the Hospice, in our shops and for our 
events, to the great benefit of the 
Hospice and the people it helps.

• Around 690 volunteers support the 
Hospice, providing complementary 
therapies, arranging flowers, working 
in the coffee shop, carrying out 
administrative tasks, driving our day-
patients to and from the Hospice 
and maintaining our grounds. Our 
reception is staffed by volunteers, 
and volunteers provide some of the 
care services, such as bereavement 
care and support and chaplaincy 
work. 

• Around 540 volunteers keep the 
Hospice’s shops open six or seven 
days a week. 

Other volunteers are involved in 
fundraising, including the Friends’ 
Committees, which organise events in 
the community and promote the work 
of the Hospice to raise vital funds. 

Volunteers are recruited through 
advertising. They take part in the 
Hospice’s induction programme and 
receive initial and on-going training. 
Service users such as patients, families 
and carers, who have expressed an 
interest in participating in service 
design, work with us on steering groups 
and in other activities where they can 
influence all areas of service delivery. 
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A special mention should be made 
of the support we receive from local 
celebrities and high-profile individuals, 
including Michael Aspel and John 
Inverdale. All of these people willingly 
take part in activities that raise the 
profile of the Hospice in the local 
community.

Public benefit
The Trustees have given careful 
consideration to the Charity 
Commission’s guidance on public benefit 
when setting the Hospice’s aims and 
objectives and planning its activities and 
consider the charity to be compliant.

Statement of Trustees’ 
responsibilities
The Trustees (who are the Directors 
of the Hospice for the purposes of 
company law) are responsible for 
preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report 
and the financial statements in line 
with the law and the regulations that 
apply. Under company law, the Trustees 
must prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law, 
the Trustees have elected to prepare 
such statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). By law, these 
statements must give a true and fair 
view of the Hospice’s finances and of 
the income and expenditure for the 
financial year.

When preparing these financial 
statements, the Trustees must:

• choose suitable accounting policies 
and follow them consistently 

• keep to the methods and principles 
in the Charities’ Statement of 
Recommended Practice FRS (102) 

• make judgements and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent 

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements 

• prepare the financial statements on 
a ‘going concern’ basis, unless the 
Hospice is unlikely to continue in 
business. 

The Trustees must keep proper 
accounting records that disclose 
the Hospice’s financial position to a 
reasonable level of accuracy at all 
times and make sure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. They are also responsible 
for protecting the Hospice’s assets and 
taking reasonable steps to prevent and 
detect fraud and other unusual activity. 

The Trustees believe they have taken 
all the necessary steps to make the 
auditors aware of any relevant audit 
information and have given the auditors 
a written undertaking to that effect. 

They also believe that they have 
identified the major risks that the 
Hospice faces. These have been 
reviewed and systems have been put 
in place to reduce these risks as far as 
possible.

Audit 
Mazars LLP, having expressed their 
willingness to continue in office, will 
be deemed reappointed for the next 
financial year in accordance with 
section 487(2) of the Companies Act 
2006 unless the company receives 
notice under section 488(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board of Trustees on 
13 July 2017 and signed on its behalf 
by

Professor Fiona Ross CBE   
Chair, Board of Trustees 
Princess Alice Hospice 
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Principal risks and  
uncertainties facing  
the Hospice
The Governance Committee oversees the Hospice’s procedures to 
manage major risks. The committee regularly compares the risks 
identified by the Board committees and the Senior Management 
Team and produces a single risk register for the organisation.

The risk register helps us to prioritise 
risks in terms of the effect they might 
have and how likely they are to occur. 
The risk register also identifies the 
controls, systems and procedures that 
are in place to mitigate those risks. 
Each committee reviews relevant risks 
at its meetings and the Governance 
Committee and the Board review the 
whole risk register annually.

The five most significant risks (before 
mitigation) as identified in the risk 
register and the mitigation in place 
are:

• Changing patient demographics 
and disease profile: We regularly 
monitor these national and regional 
trends in order to forecast how 
they will impact on the services 
we offer and how these services 
need to be adapted to meet these 
changing requirements. 

• Damage to reputation: We 
have a comprehensive set of 
policies and procedures in place 
aimed at ensuring compliance 
with best practice and legislation. 
All comments and complaints 
are promptly responded to and 
investigated to ensure lessons 
are learned. In addition there is a 
communications strategy in place 
to respond to media comment.

• Changes in our economic 
environment and in NHS 
funding affecting income: 
We have diversified our income 
streams, we monitor our finances 
closely and we have an appropriate 
level of reserves. 

• Risk of investing in securities:  
We have agreed a detailed 
Investment Policy and our 
investments are managed by a 
professional investment manager 
in accordance with this Policy. The 
aim is to maximise total return 
on the funds over a five to ten 
year period with a medium risk 
approach, thus minimising the 
effect of short term fluctuations. 
The Finance Committee reviews 
on a regular basis the performance 
of our investment manager and 
confirms their compliance with the 
Investment Policy. 

• Risk of fire, flood or other 
environmental risks: We have 
established a comprehensive plan, 
which includes evacuation of the 
premises if appropriate, to manage 
any such incident. Elements of the 
plan are tested on a regular basis.

Trustees’ Annual Report 2017



We have audited the financial statements of Princess Alice Hospice for the year ended 31 March 2017 which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial activities, the consolidated and charity balance sheets, the 
consolidated statement of cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland”. 

Respective responsibilities  
of Trustees and auditors 
As explained more fully in the 
Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities 
set out on page 28, the Trustees (who 
are also the directors of the charity 
for the purposes of company law) 
are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view.

We have been appointed auditor 
under the Companies Act 2006 and 
section 151 of the Charities Act 
2011 and report in accordance with 
those Acts. Our responsibility is to 
audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for 
Auditors. This report is made solely 
to the charity’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the 
charity’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the charity and the 
charity’s members as a body for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Scope of the audit of the  
financial statements 
A description of the scope of an 
audit of financial statements is 
provided on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on the financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the 
state of the group’s and the parent 
charity’s affairs as at 31 March 
2017 and of the group’s income 
and expenditure for the year then 
ended;

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

•have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and the 
Charities Act 2011.

Opinion on the other matters 
prescribed by the Companies  
Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the 
Strategic Report and Trustees’ 
Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; And 

• the Strategic Report and the 
Trustees’ Report have been 
prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are  
required to report by exception 
In light of the knowledge and 
understanding of the charity and 
its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in 
the Strategic Report or the Trustees’ 
Report.

We have nothing to report in respect 
of the following matters where the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the charity has not kept adequate 
and sufficient accounting records, 
or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or 

• the charity’s financial statements 
are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or  

• certain disclosures of Trustees’ 
remuneration specified by law are 
not made; or 

• we have not received all the 
information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Nicola Wakefield  
(Senior Statutory Auditor) for and 
on behalf of Mazars LLP, Chartered 
Accountants and Statutory Auditor

Times House, Throwley Way,  
Sutton, Surrey, SM1 4JQ

Date: 31 August 2017

Independent auditor’s report  
to the members and trustees  
of Princess Alice Hospice  

Financial Statements
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Consolidated statement of financial activities	
(including income and expenditure account) 
for the year ended 31 March 2017

All the above results are derived from continuing activities. There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above. 
The comparative figures for each fund are shown in Note 8. The Notes on pages 34 to 42 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Unrestricted 
funds

Designated 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Endowment 
funds

Total funds 
2017

Total funds 
2016

Notes £ £ £ £ £ £

Income
Donations and legacies
Donations 1.4  1,706,101  - 118,951  -  1,825,052  1,689,158 
Legacies 1.4  3,157,782  -  -  -  3,157,782  5,122,156 
NHS grants 1.4  1,986,840  -  -  -  1,986,840  2,022,162 

Other trading activities
Retail shops  2  5,908,961  -  -  - 5,908,961  5,383,854 
Fundraising events 1.4  749,490  -  -  -  749,490  761,496 
Trading subsidiaries  3  853,789  -  -  -  853,789  860,620 

Investments 1.4  126,919  -  - 6,788  133,707  126,894 

Charitable activities	
NHS service funding 1.4  224,354  -  -  -  224,354  249,165 
Education 1.4  188,954 -  -  -  188,954  212,184 

Other income 1.4  32,555 -  -  -  32,555  31,903 

Total income 14,935,745  -  118,951 6,788 15,061,484 16,459,592

Expenditure
Expenditure on raising donations and legacies  4  892,549  - 	-	  -  892,549  871,815 
Expenditure on other trading activities
Retail shops 2 & 4  4,868,347  93,000 	-	  -  4,961,347  4,682,282 
Fundraising events  4  295,025  - 	-	  -  295,025  173,198 
Trading subsidiaries 3 & 4  377,647  - 	-	  -  377,647  495,181 

Total expenditure on raising funds  5,541,019  93,000 	-	  -  5,634,019  5,350,661 

Expenditure on charitable activities
In-patient care  4  4,729,421  - 	19,432	  6,638  4,755,491  4,601,836 
Princess Alice at home  4  2,384,654  - 	44,172  -  2,428,826  2,494,460 
Day services  4 637,876  - 6,434	  -  644,310  632,225 
Patient and family support  4  798,495  - 	64,037	  -  862,532  835,432 
Education  4  813,713  - 	-	  150  813,863  748,998 

Total expenditure on charitable activities  9,364,159  - 	134,075  6,788  9,505,022  9,312,951 

Total expenditure  4  15,797,727  93,000  134,075  6,788  16,031,590  15,535,427 

Net (expenditure)/income before gains/losses  (861,982)  (93,000)  (15,124)  -  (970,106)  924,165
Net gains/(losses) on investments 11  677,497  -  -  -  677,497  (122,317)
Net (expenditure)/ income  (184,485)  (93,000)   95,407  -  (292,609)  801,848 
Transfer from designated funds  5  202,675  (202,675) -  -  -  - 
Transfer from restricted funds 6  6,912 -  (6,912) -  -  - 

Net movement in funds  25,102 (295,675)   (22,036)  -  (292,609)  801,848 

Reconciliation of funds 

Total funds brought forward at 1 April 2016  525,546 15,801,915  69,617  905,041 17,302,119 16,500,271 

Total funds carried forward at 31 March 2017  550,648  15,506,240  47,581  905,041  17,009,510  17,302,119 

Note 5 Note 6 Note 7
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Balance sheets	
as at 31 March 2017

Group Charity

2017 2016 2017 2016

Notes £ £ £ £

Fixed assets

Intangible assets  9  27,212  36,677  27,212  36,677 

Tangible fixed assets  10 6,586,028 7,099,412  6,586,028  7,099,412 

Investments  11 6,909,775  6,635,347  6,910,875  6,636,447 

Total fixed assets  13,523,015  13,771,436  13,524,115  13,772,536 

Current assets

Stock  12  31,076  19,816  -  - 

Debtors  13  2,505,853 3,557,876  2,975,810  3,915,340 

Cash at bank  2,147,038  1,169,330  1,603,578  666,004 

Total current assets   4,683,967  4,747,022  4,579,388  4,581,344 

Liabilities  

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year  14  (1,098,472)  (1,117,339)  (998,135)  (978,200)

Net current assets   3,585,495  3,629,683  3,581,253  3,603,144 

Total assets less current liabilities  17,108,510  17,401,119  17,105,368  17,375,680 

Provisions for liabilities

Annuity provision  1.9  (99,000)  (99,000)  (99,000)  (99,000)

Total net assets   17,009,510  17,302,119  17,006,368  17,276,680 

The funds of the charity:

Endowment funds  7  905,041  905,041  905,041  905,041 

Restricted income funds  6  47,581  69,617  47,581  69,617 

Designated funds  5  15,506,240  15,801,915  15,506,240  15,801,915 

Unrestricted funds  550,648  525,546  547,506  500,107

  17,009,510  17,302,119  17,006,368  17,276,680

Approved by the Board of Trustees on 13 July 2017 and signed on its behalf by

Professor F M Ross CBE                P J Quest 
Chair  Honorary Treasurer

Financial Statements
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Consolidated statement of cash flows	
for the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016 

Notes £ £

Net (expenditure)/ income for the year (as per the statement of financial activities)  (292,609)  801,848 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation  9 & 10  626,388  645,556 

Net (gain)/loss on investments  11  (677,497)  122,317 

Investment income  (133,707)  (126,894)

(Increase)/decrease in stock  12 (11,260)  6,969 

Decrease/(increase) in debtors  13 1,052,023  (1,950,633)

(Decrease)/increase in creditors  14  (18,867)  367,464 

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 544,471  (133,373)

Cash flows from investing activities

Investment income  133,707  126,894 

(Purchase) of tangible and intangible fixed assets 	9 & 10	  (103,539)  (254,941)

Sale of investments 	11	  625,257  317,444 

(Purchase) of investments  11  (222,188)  (409,484)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 433,237  (220,087)

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year  977,708  (353,460)

Opening balance at bank  1,169,330  1,522,790 

Closing balance at bank  2,147,038  1,169,330 
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Notes to the financial statements	
for the year ended 31 March 2017

1. Accounting policies 
1.1  Basis of preparation    
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to 
charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 
January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 
2006. 

The charitable company, Princess Alice Hospice (the “Hospice”) meets the 
definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are 
initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).

The financial position of the Hospice is set out in the Trustees’ Annual Report.  
In the opinion of the Trustees, the Hospice has sufficient money in current bank 
and building society accounts together with investment funds to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus the Trustees continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these annual financial 
statements.

1.2  Group financial statements      
The financial statements consolidate the results of the Hospice and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries PAH Trading Limited and PAH Lottery Limited on 
a line-by-line basis. A separate Statement of Financial Activities and Income 
and Expenditure Account for the charity has not been presented because 
the Hospice has taken advantage of the exemption afforded by section 408 
of the Companies Act 2006. The income of the Hospice was £14,510,888 
(2016: £15,938,972) and the expenditure was £15,653,943 (2016: 
£15,040,246).

1.3  Fund accounting 
Endowment, restricted, designated and unrestricted funds are separately 
disclosed in the Balance Sheet and in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Activities. These different funds are defined as follows: 

- Endowment funds are funds given to the Hospice where it may use only  
   the income generated from investing these funds. 

- Restricted funds are subject to specific restrictive conditions imposed    
   by the donor or by the nature of an appeal. 

- Designated funds are set aside at the discretion of the Trustees for specific 
   purposes. They would otherwise form part of unrestricted funds. 

- Unrestricted funds are available to use at the discretion of the Trustees in 
   furtherance of the charitable objectives of the Hospice. 

1.4  Income 
The total income receivable in the year comprises donations, legacies, NHS 
income, interest, fees from education courses run by the Hospice and other 
sundry income. 

Legacies are recognised as income when it can reasonably be assumed that 
the Hospice is entitled to the legacy and the amount can be estimated with 
sufficient reliability. 

NHS grants are the block grants that the Hospice receives from NHS Surrey 
Downs Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Kingston Clinical Commissioning 
Group and NHS Richmond Clinical Commissioning Group (the “CCGs”).  
These are based on historic practice and not related to the level of clinical 
activity undertaken by the Hospice. They are only agreed for up to one year 
at a time.

NHS service funding is income received  from the CCGs related to the 
provision of a clinical service, which is normally linked to specific clinical 
activities undertaken by the Hospice. This may be funding for a new initiative 
which has been commissioned by a CCG in its care area, such as rapid 
response night service or a pilot project. Funding is typically received as a 
percentage contribution (which may be as high as 100% of full direct costs) 
towards the total costs.

1.5  Donated goods and services   

Donated vehicles, plant or furniture are recognised as tangible fixed assets 
and the corresponding gain recognised as income from donations in the 
Statement of Financial Activities (SoFA). Donated facilities or services are 
likewise recognised as income from donations on the basis of the value of 
the gift to the Hospice and an equivalent amount recognised as an expense 
under the appropriate heading in the SoFA. There were no donations of 
assets or services in the year ended 31 March 2017. In the year ended 31 
March 2016 an adapted vehicle worth £10,000 was donated. 

Donated goods for resale are recognised as income when sold and included 
in income from retail shops in the SoFA. It is not practical to estimate the fair 
value of these goods on receipt because of the volume of low-value items 
received and the lack of detailed records.  

In accordance with SORP (FRS 102) general volunteer time is not included as 
income in the accounts as it is not possible to measure this reliably. However, 
the Hospice relies on the contribution of volunteers and is very grateful for 
their time. See page 27 for further details.  

1.6  Expenditure     
Direct costs comprise expenditure incurred during the year both directly and 
indirectly attributable to the activity concerned. Support costs include the 
cost of governance, housekeeping, catering, facilities and health & safety, 
human resources, marketing and communication, finance and administration 
and depreciation of fixed assets. These have been allocated to activities on 
a proportionate basis eg by activity level, headcount or on the basis of staff 
time spent (see Note 4).      
 

     
 

Financial Statements
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Notes to the financial statements	
for the year ended 31 March 2017

1. Accounting policies (continued) 
1.7  Taxation    
As a registered charity, the Hospice benefits from business rates relief from 
local Councils and is exempt from direct tax on its charitable activities. The 
Hospice is able to claim back VAT on most of its activities, any irrecoverable 
VAT is included in the cost of those items to which it relates. Income tax 
recoverable in respect of donations under Gift Aid and investment income is 
included with the income to which it relates.

1.8  Intangible and tangible fixed assets 
Fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation or amortisation. 
Depreciation/amortisation is provided at rates calculated to write off the  
cost in equal instalments over the economic life of the asset at the following 
annual rates:   

Intangible assets  20%/33%    
Freehold land  0%    
Freehold buildings   4%    
Leasehold buildings  over the remaining life of the lease   
Furniture and equipment  10%    
Medical equipment   20%    
Motor vehicles   25%    
ICT equipment  20% / 33% 

Items are treated as fixed assets and their costs capitalised only where the 
purchase price exceeds £1,000.    

The cost of leasehold buildings mainly represents premiums on acquisitions  
of retail shop leases.

1.9  Pension costs 
The total employer pension contribution to all schemes for the year ended 
31 March 2017 was £554,652 (2016: £551,508). Total contributions of 
£48,333 (2016: £49,160) were due to be paid after the year end.

NHS Pension Scheme 
The Hospice makes payments to the NHS Pension Scheme for former NHS 
employees who, on employment with the Hospice, are eligible to continue in 
or rejoin the NHS Pension Scheme. The NHS Pension Scheme is an unfunded 
defined benefit scheme that covers employees of NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of 
State for Health in England and Wales, which includes the Hospice. It is not 
possible to identify the Hospice’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities 
and as a result the NHS Pension Scheme is treated as a defined contribution 
scheme under FRS102. 

The employer contribution payable in the year to the NHS Pension Scheme 
was £316,379 (2016: £332,656).

Group Personal Pension Scheme    
A defined contribution scheme is in operation for eligible employees with 
contributions payable by both the Hospice and the relevant employees.  
The assets of these plans are held separately from those of the Hospice,  
being invested with an insurance company. The current provider of the scheme 
is Scottish Widows. 

The employer contribution payable in the year into the Group Personal Pension 
Scheme was £200,011 (2016: £184,253).

 
Auto-enrolment 
All employees meeting certain criteria must be enrolled into a workplace 
pension if they are not already in a qualifying scheme. The Hospice has chosen 
the National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) to meet its auto-enrolment 
obligations.  

The employer contribution payable in the year into NEST was £22,040  
(2016: £18,940).    

Other pension schemes 
The Hospice contributed to one other pension scheme (2016: one). This 
scheme is a defined contribution pension scheme. Prior to 31 December 2011 
it was a defined benefit scheme, which is now closed to new members and also 
to future accrual of benefits to existing members. It is not possible to identify 
the Hospice’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities and as a result 
the scheme was treated as a defined contribution scheme under FRS102. 
However, the scheme is in deficit and the Hospice is paying its share of the 
deficit on an ongoing basis through its employer contributions at a rate set by 
the scheme and reviewed annually.

The employer contribution payable in the year into the scheme was £9,136 
(2016: £8,644).   

Annuities 
The Hospice is contracted to pay annual sums for life to two former employees 
based on a sum of £4,499 per annum in 1998 increased by the Hospice 
annual salary increase (if any). The sum paid in the year under review was 
£7,086 in aggregate (2016: £7,016). This liability is met from income in the 
year in which it is paid. A provision of £99,000 is retained to cover future 
unfunded liabilities. The Trustees consider this provision to be adequate.

1.10  Stock    
Stock purchased for sale is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Stock donated for sale in the Hospice’s retail shops is valued at nil. 

1.11  Operating leases 
The Hospice has entered into various operating leases, the future financial 
commitment to which is set out in Note 18. Rentals payable under these leases 
are charged on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

1.12  Investments 
Listed investments are included in the balance sheet at market value.  
Realised gains and losses on disposals in the year and unrealised gains 
and losses on investments at the balance sheet date are included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities. The movement in the  
valuation of investments during the year is set out in Note 11.   
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2017 2016

£ £

Turnover*  5,908,961  5,383,854 
Less cost of operations  (4,828,132)  (4,828,132)  (4,492,529)  (4,492,529)
Gross contribution  1,080,829  891,325 
Less shop development**   
  Acquisition of new shops -  (160,714)
  Refurbishment or relocation of existing shops  (133,215)  (133,215)  (29,039)  (189,753)

Costs of raising funds - retail  (4,961,347)  (4,682,282)

Net contribution  947,614  701,572 

*Turnover includes £1,836,996 (2016: £1,625,464) of donations and associated Gift Aid of £459,249 (2016: £406,366) from the retail Gift Aid 
scheme. This scheme involves PAH Trading Limited selling goods on behalf of supporters (“Agency Sales”) in the Hospice’s retail shops and the supporters 
then donating the proceeds of the Agency Sales to the Hospice under Gift Aid.      
**Shop development costs are the net cost of fitting out or refurbishing our retail shops. Some of the work done is the landlord’s responsibility and will 
often be paid for by means of granting a rent-free period which is offset against the development costs incurred.    
       

2. Retail shops results

3. Trading subsidiaries
The Hospice has two wholly owned subsidiaries which are incorporated in the UK for the purposes of generating  income for the Hospice’s charitable purposes.  
The whole of their taxable profit is transferred to the Hospice under Gift Aid within nine months of the year end.  
The specific activity of each of the trading subsidiaries is:  
PAH Trading Limited – sells new and promotional goods as well as receiving commission on agency sales, lets the unutilised meeting room capacity in the Hospice 
to external users and provides catering services for the benefit of the Hospice and external users;    
PAH Lottery Limited – operates lotteries.          

 PAH 
Trading Ltd  

 PAH 
Lottery Ltd  

Total  
2017

Total 
2016

Profit and loss accounts £ £ £ £

Turnover  315,178  538,544  853,722  860,460 
Interest received  -  67  67  160 

Income  315,178  538,611  853,789  860,620 

Cost of sales  (171,143)  (85,330)  (264,079)  (253,836)
Direct overheads - (51,795) (51,795) -
Administrative expenses  (17,237)  (52,142)  (61,773)  (241,345)

Expenses  (188,380)  (189,267)  (377,647)  (495,181)

Net profit  126,798  349,344 476,142  365,439 
Amount distributed to the Hospice  (125,000)  (348,000)  (473,000)  (340,000)

Retained in subsidiary 1,798  1,344  3,142  25,439 

Previous year net profit  115,931  249,508  365,439  - 

Shareholder’s funds

Share capital (issued)  100  1,000  1,100  1,100 

Direct  
costs  

 Support 
costs  

(See note 
1.6)

Total  
2017

Total  
2016

£ £ £ £

In-patient care  2,920,704  1,834,787  4,755,491  4,601,836 
Princess Alice at home  2,179,292  249,534  2,428,826  2,494,460 
Day services  406,480  237,830 644,310  632,225 
Patient and family support  684,868  177,664 862,532  835,432 
Education 511,397  302,466  813,863  748,998 
Raising donations and legacies  516,612  375,937  892,549  871,815 
Fundraising events 295,025  -  295,025  173,198 
Retail shops  4,729,660  231,687  4,961,347  4,682,282 

 12,244,038  3,409,905  15,653,943  15,040,246 
Trading subsidiaries  377,647  -  377,647  495,181 

 12,621,685  3,409,905  16,013,590  15,535,427

4. Total expenditure

Notes to the financial statements	for the year ended 31 March 2017
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Group

Basis of apportionment 2017 2016 

£ £

Governance Time spent  27,038  36,593 
Housekeeping Time spent  582,589  587,248 
Catering Resource allocated   294,208  291,240 
Facilities and health & safety Resource allocated   449,496  396,431 
Human resources and volunteers Per capita  283,247  287,949 
Information technology Time spent  220,975  244,372 
Marketing and communication Resource allocated   338,672  275,263 
Executive, finance and administration Time spent  625,683  527,349 
Amortisation /depreciation (excluding retail) Resource allocated   587,997  611,477 

 3,409,905  3,257,922 

Analysis of support costs:

Group

2017 2016 

£ £

Auditor’s remuneration
   - statutory audit  14,022  12,250
   - tax advisory services 1,414  1,914 
Operating lease rentals:     
For charitable activities:     
    Equipment  23,463  23,463 
 For raising funds:   
   Leasehold retail shops 1,357,230  1,244,430 
Depreciation/amortisation of owned assets  626,388  645,556 

The above figures include:

 Raising 
funds

 In-patient 
care

 Princess 
Alice 

at home

 Day 
services

 Patient and 
family 

support
Education Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Governance  2,704  16,222  2,704  1,352  1,352 2,704 27,038
Housekeeping  -  524,331 -  29,129 -  29,129  582,589
Catering  14,710  132,394  -  73,552  44,131  29,421 294,208
Facilities and health & safety  67,425  269,697  13,485  22,475  8,990 67,424 449,496
Human resources and volunteers  86,931  48,294  34,773  3,864  13,523 5,795 193,180
Volunteering 33,182  9,481  9,481  14,221 14,221 9,481 90,067
Information technology  70,712  24,306  81,761  11,049  13,259  19,888  220,975 
Marketing and communication 238,453 13,823 13,823 20,735 20,735 31,103 338,672
Executive, finance and administration  64,107  384,642  64,107  32,053  32,053  48,721  625,683 
Amortisation /depreciation (excluding retail)  29,400 411,597  29,400  29,400  29,400  58,800  587,997 

 607,624  1,834,787  249,534  237,830  177,664 302,466 3,409,905

Allocation of support costs to activities:

The designated funds are made up of the following:
The Fixed Asset Equalisation Fund represents the net book value of fixed assets used for charitable purposes. This assists in identifying funds which are not free 
for the Trustees to use. The transfer of £522,849 (2016: £390,315) out to unrestricted funds represents the difference between net capital expenditure and 
depreciation.      

                             Group and Hospice

Balance 
2016

Expenditure Net 
Transfers

Balance 
2017

£ £ £ £

Fixed Asset Equalisation Fund  7,136,089 -  (522,849) 	6,613,240
Running Costs Reserve  6,715,826 -  220,174 	6,936,000
Strategic Development Reserve  1,100,000 -    - 	1,100,000	
Building Refurbishment Fund  750,000 - - 	750,000	
Retail Shop Refurbishment Fund  100,000 (93,000) -  	7,000	
Staff wellbeing Fund  - -  100,000 100,000		

15,801,915  (93,000)  (202,675) 	15,506,240	

5. Designated funds
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Balance 
2016

Income Expenditure Transfers Balance 
2017

£ £ £ £ £

Ward equipment fund  6,414  3,615  (1,937)  (5,512)  2,580 
Children in Need project  6,907  34,030  (40,937) -  -
Community Choir  7,985  5,561  (5,340) -  8,206 
Bereavement Service  2,851  11,170  (7,826) -  6,195
Day Hospice  908  403  (1,094) -  217 
Hospice Neighbours  24,691 11,800  (15,274) -  21,217 
Dementia friendly room  10,000  - (9,801) -  199 
Enhanced Support Service - 44,172 (44,172) - -
Other Funds  9,861  8,200  (7,694) (1,400)  8,967 

 69,617  118,951  (134,075)  (6,912)  47,581 

The policy of the Trustees is to treat donations given for specific purposes as Restricted Funds until properly expended. The funds shown are those which were 
directed by donors to be used for specific purposes and are unexpended at 31 March 2017. These funds will be used in accordance with the directions of the donors 
in a subsequent accounting period.  Transfers represent items purchased as fixed assets where the restriction is expended on purchase of the asset.   

6. Restricted funds

The Edwin Stevens fund relates to a permanent capital contribution received on establishment of the Hospice. 
The D.J. Squires “Love of Roses” fund was established in 1996, the income from which is to be used for the research and advance of palliative care. 
The June Daphne Allen fund was created by the conditions of a legacy received in July 2001, the income from which is to be used for the general purposes 
of the Hospice.  
All income arising from these funds was expended during the year.     

Group and Hospice

Balance 
2016

 
Income

 
Expenditure

Balance 
2017

£ £ £ £

The Edwin Stevens fund  40,000  300  (300)  40,000 
The D.J. Squires “Love of Roses” fund  20,000  150  (150)  20,000 
The June Daphne Allen fund  845,041  6,338  (6,338)  845,041 

 905,041  6,788  (6,788)  905,041 

7. Endowment funds Movement in resources

Year ended 31 March 2016

 Unrestricted 
funds

 Designated 
funds

 Restricted 
funds

Endowment  
funds  

Total  funds 
2016

£ £ £ £ £

Income
Donations  1,523,374  -  165,784  -  1,689,158 
Legacies  5,122,156  -  -  -  5,122,156 
NHS grants  2,022,162  -  -  - 2,022,162 
NHS service funding  249,165  -  -  -  249,165 

Education  212,184  -  -  -  212,184 

Retail shops  5,383,854  -  -  -  5,383,854 
Fundraising events  761,496  -  -  -  761,496 
Trading subsidiaries  860,620  -  -  -  860,620 
 Investments 119,201  -  -  7,693  126,894 
 Other  31,903  -  -  -  31,903 

Total income  16,286,115  -  165,784  7,693  16,459,592 

8. Comparative results for each group of funds 
      

Notes to the financial statements	for the year ended 31 March 2017

The Running Costs Reserve has been set up by the Trustees in recognition of the need for adequate readily realisable resources to meet future charitable expenditure 
in the event of a significant short-term drop in income and the Trustees are targeting a level of 9 months +/- 3 months budgeted charitable expenditure. A transfer 
of £220,174 has been made from unrestricted funds (2016: £19,508). The balance on this fund at the year end is 8 months (2016:8) of the Hospice’s budgeted 
charitable expenditure for 2017/18. 
The Strategic Development Reserve has been established  to support the delivery of the Hospice’s new five year strategy for 2017 - 2022. There has been no 
transfer from unrestricted funds in the year under review (2016: £1,100,000). 
The Building Refurbishment Fund has been established to build up sufficient funds to cover the cost of refurbishing the oldest part of the Hospice building which is 
now 25 years old. Such refurbishment is currently envisaged to commence in the next 6 months. There has been no transfer from unrestricted funds in the year 
under review (2016: £400,000).
The Retail Shop Refurbishment Fund has been established in recognition that the Hospice needs to invest in a programme to upgrade the older shops in our charity 
retail shop chain. Expenditure of £93,000 was incurred during the year (2016:£nil). There has been no transfer from unrestricted funds in the year under review 
(2016: £50,000). 
The Staff Wellbeing Fund has been established to enable the Senior Management Team to fund initiatives to improve workforce wellbeing and engagement. A 
transfer in of £100,000 has been made from unrestricted funds (2016:nil).
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      Group and Hospice                     

Total 
 2017

£

Cost

At 1 April 2016  222,242 
Purchases  18,667 

At 31 March 2017  240,909  

Amortisation
At 1 April 2016  185,565 
Charge for year  28,132 

At 31 March 2017  213,697 

Net book value
At 31 March 2017  27,212 

At 31 March 2016  36,677
 

9. Intangible assets 
      

10. Tangible fixed assets 
      

Group and Hospice

Freehold 
land

Freehold 
buildings  

 Leasehold 
buildings

Furniture, 
equipment 

and vehicles 

Total  
2017

£ £ £ £ £

Cost

At 1 April 2016  71,586  11,247,270  65,723  1,575,001 12,959,580
Purchases  -  (44,975)  -  129,847 84,872 
Disposals - -  -  (31,894)  (31,894)

At 31 March 2017  71,586  11,202,295  65,723  1,672,954  13,012,558 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2016  -  4,623,979  62,525  1,173,664  5,860,168 
Charge for year  -  440,690  450  157,116  598,256 
Disposals  -  -  -  (31,894)  (31,894)

At 31 March 2017  -  5,064,669  62,975  1,298,886  6,426,530

Net book value
At 31 March 2017  71,586  6,137,626  2,748  374,068  6,586,028 

At 31 March 2016  71,586  6,623,291  3,198  401,337  7,099,412 
 

Year ended 31 March 2016

 Unrestricted 
funds

 Designated 
funds

 Restricted 
funds

Endowment  
funds  

Total  funds 
2016

£ £ £ £ £

Expenditure
Raising donations and legacies  871,815  -  -  -  871,815 
Retail shops  4,682,282  -  -  -  4,682,282 
Fundraising events  173,198  -  -  -  173,198 
Trading subsidiaries  495,181  -  -  -  495,181 
In-patient care  4,592,166  -  2,147  7,523  4,601,836
Princess Alice at Home  2,491,960  -  2,500  -  2,494,460 
Day services 625,813  -  6,412  -  632,225 
Patient and family support  776,114  -  59,318  -  835,432 
Education  748,828  -  -  170 748,998 

Total expenditure  15,457,357 -  70,377  7,693  15,535,427 

Net losses on investments  (122,317)  -  -  -  (122,317)  

Net income  706,441  -  95,407  -  801,848 

Transfer to designated funds  (1,156,700)  1,156,700  -  -  - 
Transfer from restricted funds  80,429  -  (80,429)  -  - 

Net movement in funds  (369,830)  1,156,700  14,978  -  801,848

8. Comparative results for each group of funds 
(continued)      
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Group

2017 2016 

£ £

Stock of promotional and new goods  31,076  19,816
All stock is held by PAH Trading Limited.

12. Stock 

Group Hospice

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ £ £ £

Operating debtors  189,221  246,773  174,045  229,985 
Accrued legacy income 1,575,654  2,468,789 1,575,654  2,468,789 
Gift Aid recoverable  41,327  179,224  41,327  179,224 
Retail rents prepaid  332,063  317,431  332,063  317,431 
Other debtors and prepayments 367,588  345,659  378,978  346,747 
Amounts due from subsidiaries  -  -  473,743  373,164 

 2,505,853  3,557,876  2,975,810  3,915,340 

13. Debtors

Group Hospice

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ £ £ £

Taxation and social security costs  218,152  206,356  218,152  206,356 
Salaries and holiday pay  13,504  82,076 13,504  82,076 
Provision for legacy repayment*  -  90,000  -  90,000 
Operating creditors  328,617  296,230  320,564   272,748 
Other creditors and accruals 538,199  442,677  445,915  327,020 

 1,098,472  1,117,339  998,135  978,200 

14. Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

*In 2015/16 the Hospice was joint beneficiary with another Hospice of a residual legacy. Evidence was presented to the Trustees that the will did not dispose of 
the testator’s estate in the manner really intended. The Trustees of both Hospices agreed that they were under a moral obligation to fulfil the testator’s wishes and 
therefore applied to the Charity Commission for permission to make an ex-gratia payment. Permission was granted on 23 August 2016 and a payment of £93,193 
was made in full settlement of this obligation on 1 September 2016.

Notes to the financial statements	for the year ended 31 March 2017 

2017 2016 

£ £

Marketable investments 
Market value at start of year  6,635,347  6,665,624 
Net additions at cost  222,188  409,484 
Disposals at market value  (625,257)  (317,444)
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation/disposal  677,497  (122,317) 

Market value at 31 March  6,909,775  6,635,347 

Trading subsidiaries (see Note 3)  1,100  1,100 

Total investments  6,910,875  6,636,447 

Cost at 31 March  5,827,174  6,198,154

2017 2016 

£ £

Equities  3,120,460 2,576,886
Fixed Income  445,655  437,221
Other securities (absolute return funds, multi-asset funds, property funds, etc.) 1,921,679 1,759,644
Short term deposits and cash  1,421,981  1,861,596 

 6,909,775  6,635,347  

11. Investments   

Marketable investments comprise:



41

Trustees’ Annual Report 2017

Group

2017 2016

Costs £ £

Salaries  9,728,156  9,464,636 
Employer’s National Insurance  837,124  756,238 
Pension costs  554,652  551,508 
Agency staff  123,604  120,679 
Recruitment and training expenses  96,986  79,159 
Subsidiary companies staff costs  51,795  124,194 

 11,392,317  11,096,414 

15. Staff remuneration

Group

2017 2016

Headcount FTE Headcount  FTE

Average number of employees

In-patient unit  62  50  63  50 
Princess Alice at Home  41  36  44  38 
Day services  9  5  6  4 
Patient and family support  15  14  15  13 
Consultants and doctors  7  6  7  6 
Clinical administration  13  11  14  11 
Therapies  16  10  15  9 
Housekeeping  23  18  23  17 
Other support services  30  28  28  25 
Education  9  7  8  7 

 225  185  223  180 

Marketing and communication  4  4  4  4 
Fundraising  20  18  19  16 
Retail  158  105  153  97 
Executive and finance  8  6  7  6 

 190  133  183  123 

 415  318  406  303 

2017 2016

No. No.

£60,000 to £69,999  3  3 
£70,000 to £79,999  1  2 
£80,000 to £89,999  1  - 
£90,000 to £99,999 * 1  * 1 
£130,000 to £139,999  1  1 

The number of employees whose earnings (excluding employer’s pension contributions) fell into the bands below were:

*Chief Executive     
The Hospice directly employs medical consultants and doctors paid on NHS scales who are included in the numbers above.    
The key management personnel of the Hospice are the Trustees and the Senior Management Team (“SMT”). The SMT comprises the Chief Executive, Medical 
Director, Director of Patient Care and Strategic Development,  Director of Fundraising, Marketing and Communication, Director of Finance and Operations and 
Retail Director. They are subject to the same  terms and conditions as other members of staff and do not receive any additional employee benefits. They are only 
reimbursed for expenses necessarily incurred for business purposes in accordance with Hospice policy. The total employee benefit (salary and employer’s pension 
contribution) received by the SMT was £540,248 (2016: £533,546).
The Trustees are the directors for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006 and, as required by the Articles of Association, are the members of Princess Alice 
Hospice, a Company Limited by Guarantee. They receive no remuneration. During the year to 31 March 2017 they were not reimbursed for any expenses.
In the year under review a payment of £5,000 was made to an ex-employee as a result of early conciliation process.

16. Related party transactions
During the year ended 31 March 2017 the aggregate amount of donations received from Trustees and their close family members, the Senior Management Team 
and their respective spouse/partner was £5,370 (2016: £5,683).
The Trustees volunteer their time to attend internal and external meetings, provide support and advice to the Senior Management Team, attend Hospice events and 
represent the Hospice at external events. The Trustees estimate that  during the year they donated over 2,000 hours of  time in aggregate. 
Gail Cookson, Trustee, is Fundraising Director of WPN Chameleon a company providing direct marketing services. During the reporting period WPN Chameleon 
provided direct marketing services to the Hospice of £47,235 (2016: £10,618). There were no outstanding balances at 31 March 2017. 
Jonathan Perkins (Trustee until 13 September 2016) is a Lay member for Governance on the Governing Body of NHS Surrey Downs CCG, which commissions End of 
Life Care from the Hospice on behalf of both Surrey Downs CCG and North West Surrey CCG. During the year ended 31 March 2017 Surrey Downs CCG contributed 
£1,168,162 (2016: £1,192,444) of funding to the Hospice.
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Group

Unrestricted 
funds

Designated 
funds 

Restricted 
funds

Endowment 
funds

Total 
2017

£ £ £ £ £

Fixed assets  -  6,613,240  -  -  6,613,240
Investments  -  6,004,734  -  905,041  6,909,775
Current assets  1,748,120  2,888,266  47,581  -  4,683,967
Current liabilities  (1,098,472)  -  -  -  (1,098,472)
Annuity provision  (99,000)  -  -  -  (99,000)

 550,648  15,506,240  47,581  905,041  17,009,510 

17. Analysis of net assets between funds

Retail shops Equipment

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ £ £ £

Payments due:
Within 1 year  1,259,661  1,085,547  16,551  20,226 
Within 2 to 5 years  2,970,685  2,482,966  16,551  80,904 
After 5 years  1,830,411  1,742,531  -  5,369 

 6,060,757  5,311,044  33,102  106,499 

18. Other financial commitments
At 31 March 2017 the group was committed to making the following 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases:  

Notes to the financial statements	for the year ended 31 March 2017 

19. Simplified income and  
       expenditure statement     

2017 2017 2016 2016 

Notes £ £ £ £

Income

NHS grants  1.4  1,986,840 23%  2,022,162 20%
Voluntary income
     Legacies  1.4   3,157,782 37%   5,122,156 50%
     Donations  1.4  1,825,052  1,689,158 
     
Cost of raising voluntary income 4  (892,549)  (871,815)

 932,503 11%  817,343 8%
Fundraising events  1.5  749,490  761,496 
Cost of fundraising events  4  (295,025)  (173,198)

 454,465 5%  588,298 6%
Trading subsidiaries 3  853,789  860,620 
Cost of trading subsidiaries 3  (377,647)  (495,181)

 476,142 6%  365,439 4%
Retail
     Retail income 2  5,908,961  5,383,854 
     Cost of retail 4  (4,961,347)  (4,682,282)

 947,614 11%  701,572 7%
Investment income  1.4  133,707 2%  126,894 1%
NHS service funding  1.4  224,354 3%  249,165 2%
Education  1.4  188,954 2%  212,184 2%
Other  1.4  32,555 0.4%  31,903 0.3%

Net income  8,534,916 100%   10,237,116 100%

Expenditure

Charitable activities
     In-patient care 4  (4,755,492) 50%  (4,601,836) 49%
    Princess Alice at home 4  (2,428,826) 26%  (2,494,460) 27%
    Day services 4  (644,310) 7%  (632,225) 7%
    Patient and family support 4  (862,532) 9%  (835,432) 9%
    Education 4  (813,863) 8%  (748,998) 8%

 (9,505,022)  (9,312,951)

Total expenditure  (9,505,022) 100%  (9,312,951) 100%

Operating (deficit)/surplus  (970,106)  924,165

All the figures shown below are taken from the 
consolidated statement of financial activities.

Group Group
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Trustees

Professor Fiona Ross CBE   
Chair
Fiona has been a nurse, academic and 
manager. She was formally Dean at 
Kingston University and St George’s, 
University of London.   

Andrew McIntosh   
Vice Chairman
Andrew has worked in a number of 
commercial roles in the rail industry, 
across both public and private 
sectors.

Peter Quest   
Honorary Treasurer
Peter retired as a partner at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005, 
having worked there for some 31 
years. 

Gail Cookson  
With over 25 years’ experience in 
fundraising Gail has been a Director 
of WPN Chameleon for 12 years.

Ann Duncan
Formerly NHS Director of Nursing 
and Quality, Ann now works as an 
independent Consultant. 

Ian Elder
Ian was a partner at the law firm Allen 
& Overy. Since retiring, he has sat on 
the boards of various charities.

Jane Formby MBE
Our longest serving Trustee, Jane was 
Vice-Chair of the Appeal Committee, 
which raised funds to build our 
Hospice.

Professor Sean Hilton 
Sean is Emeritus Professor at St 
George’s, University of London. He 
was a GP partner for 30 years in 
Kingston upon Thames.

Nigel Haig-Brown 
Nigel is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England 
& Wales and an Elmbridge Borough 
Councillor. 

Jane Hogg 
Having previously worked in the 
charity Sector, Jane is now 
Integration Director at Frimley Park 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Jeannine Nolan 
Jeannine runs her own independent 
communications consultancy, 
which has a strong bias towards the 
healthcare sector.

Christopher Roshier 
Christopher is a retired Chartered 
Accountant with 20 years’ experience 
working in the City as a merchant/
investment banker.

Andrew Sesemann
An entrepreneur who has grown and 
sold two businesses, Andrew 
is currently a Business Mentor for 
small and family businesses.

Sean Watson
Sean is a consultant to City law firm 
CMS Cameron McKenna and a Non-
Executive Director of Argus Media.

Dr Peter West 
Peter is a health economist with over 
40 years’ experience working for 
consulting groups, universities and 
government agencies across the 
world.

Senior Management Team

Nicki Shaw   
Chief Executive 

Dr Craig Gannon   
Medical Director

Diane Rickwood   
Director of Finance and Operations  
and Company Secretary

Phil Seal   
Director of Retail

Nigel Seymour   
Director of Fundraising, Marketing  
and Communication

Lesley Spencer   
Director of Patient Care  
and Strategic Development 

Advisors

Cazenove Capital Management  
12 Moorgate, London EC2 6DA

Mazars LLP  
Times House, Throwley Way,  
Sutton, Surrey SM1 4AF

Barclays Corporate 
Ranger House, Walnut Tree Close, 
Guildford, Surrey GU1 4UL

Who’s who?
Year ended 31 March 2017
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Your hospice

Thank you for helping us continue caring when it matters. 
We are hugely grateful to the trusts, foundations and masonic lodges who have supported our work this year. 
Your valued support has enabled us to invest in our dedicated staff team, and ensured care and support for the 
thousands of local patients, and their families and carers who need our specialist services. 

As a hospice, unlike many other charities, we have patients in constant need of care. 

We need to keep paying the everyday costs that allow us to provide that care. This means it is vital to protect 
every penny of our reserves, so that we can continue caring for as long as possible if the worst should happen 
and funding should no longer be available. 

Thank you for making this possible.

Trusts & Foundations
The Albert Hunt Trust
The Ann Jane Green Trust
The Anonymous Donor Trust
Barnabas Trust at Stewards Company Limited
BBC Children in Need
Benzecry Charitable Trust
The Bookhams, Fetcham & Effingham  
Nursing Association.
The Brock Webb Trust
Burrow Family Charitable Trust
The Cameron McKenna Foundation
The Charles Skey Charitable Trust
The Childwick Trust
Clara E Burgess Trust
Cleopatra Trust
The Deakin Charitable Trust
Diocese of Arundel and Brighton
E K & D Wright Trust
Edwin George Robinson Charitable Trust
Excel Fund
F G Roberts Charitable Trust
The Farrer-Brown Charitable Trust
The February Foundation
The Gerald Bentall Charitable Trust
The Girdlers’ Company
The Gosling Foundation Limited
Grace Dieu Charitable Trust
Hampton Fuel Allotment Charity
Hargrave Foundation for A Brighter Future
Heston Parochial Charities
Holloway Charitable Trust
The Hope Fund
The Hospital Saturday Fund Charitable Trust
The Ingram Trust
Institute of Our Lady of Mercy
The Ione Vassiliou Charitable Trust
The James Wise Charitable Trust

The Joseph Strong Frazer Trust
Kia New Futures
Kingston Nursing Association
London Catalyst
The Lynn Foundation
The Margaret and David Walker Trust
Margarethe Charitable Trust
Masonic Charitable Foundation
Nicka Vassiliou Charitable Trust
Old Wandsworthians Memorial Trust
Pauline Meredith Charitable Trust
Piscatorial Bowling Society
The R C Sherriff Trust
Richard Churcher Foundation
The Richard Pollock Charitable Trust
Richmond Parish Lands Charity
The Roger Raymond Charitable Trust
Roger Vere Foundation
The Rowan Bentall Charitable Trust
The Rozel Trust
The Sandra Charitable Trust
The Shirley & Ian Watson Charitable  Trust
Sir Edward Lewis Foundation
The Souter Charitable Trust
St. James’s Place Foundation
Toyota (GB)
The Vernon N Ely Charitable Trust
Walton on Thames Charity
The Werth Trust
The William Allen Young Trust
The William Henry Way Bequest Trust
Wimbledon Foundation

Masonic Lodges
Abbey Lodge 2120
Addlestone Lodge 5222
Albany Lodge 2652
Army and Navy Lodge

Astede Lodge Chapter 
Chertsey Abbey Chapter
Chingestune Lodge No 5542
Egyptian Lodge
Elia Lodge
Elmbridge Chapter Lodge 5838
Elmbridge Lodge L5838
Ernest Etherington Lodge 10266
Grand Charitable Trust of the Order of 
Freemasons
Guildford Masonic Widows Association
Lodge Herewe No 38
Lodge Loyalty United 4931
Lodge Of Integrity 5251
Lodge Papyrus
Lodge St George’s No 370
Lodge Stoneleigh Coronation Chapter
Old Concord Lodge  No 172
Philip Bull Lodge No 7731
Provincial Grand Chapter of Surrey
Provincial Grand Lodge of Surrey
Richmond Hill Lodge  No 6698
Royal Borough of Kingston Lodge
Southborough Lodge
Spirit of St George’s
St. Peter’s Lodge No 7406 
St. Clair Lodge 2902
Staines Lodge of Mark Master Masons No 858
Sunbury Lodge  
Surbiton Lodge No 2146
The Worshipful Mayor (Kingston)
Wandsworthians Lodge No 5365
Wickham Lodge No 1924

A special thank you!  
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Princess Alice

For more information about leaving a gift in your Will to Princess Alice Hospice visit  
www.pah.org.uk/legacies or call us on 01372	461808 or email supportercare@pah.org.uk	

Thank you

Princess Alice Hospice is committed to reaching out to more people by delivering 
outstanding care, nurturing compassionate communities, sharing our knowledge 
and expertise and influencing the debate around death and dying. But, that ambition 
needs to be matched with an increase in funds to support it. We need to grow our 
annual net income from £9 million to at least £12 million by 2022.
Gifts in Wills from past supporters contribute 37% of our net income. They give us 
the peace of mind that, as we go about our work today, we will have the funding 
that’s required to be there for everyone who will need us in the years and decades 
to come. 
A gift of any size will make a difference - £385 could help us provide overnight 
nursing care for a patient in their home; while £1,010 could pay for the services of 
a Princess Alice Nurse for a whole week and larger sums will enable us to take on 
larger projects like recruiting specialist teams.

A gift in your Will  
could grow into  
something wonderful 



Princess Alice Hospice is a registered charity no: 1010930 and a company limited by guarantee in  
England and Wales no: 1599796. Registered as a US Tax Exempt charity under Section 501 (c) (3) IRC

©Princess Alice Hospice 2017

Contact us
Princess Alice Hospice 
West End Lane, Esher  
Surrey KT10 8NA

01372 468811 
enquiries@pah.org.uk 
www.pah.org.uk

Join us at pahospice


